EFFECTS OF TRADE LIBERALIZATION ON AGGREGATE AND AGRICULTURAL SECTOR EMPLOYMENT IN NIGERIA

ADEDAPO SAMUEL ADEOGUN

Bachelor of Agriculture (Agricultural Economics), Obafemi Awolowo University, 2015

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE (MANAGEMENT)

in

INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT

Dhillon School of Business University of Lethbridge LETHBRIDGE, ALBERTA, CANADA

© Adedapo Samuel Adeogun, 2022

EFFECTS OF TRADE LIBERALIZATION ON AGGREGATE AND AGRICULTURAL SECTOR EMPLOYMENT IN NIGERIA

ADEDAPO SAMUEL ADEOGUN

Date of Defence: 2nd September 2022

Dr. Bahareh Mosadegh Sedghy	Assistant Professor	Ph.D.
Dr. Alexander Bilson Darku Thesis Co-Supervisors	Associate Professor	Ph.D.
Dr. Danny Le Roy Thesis Examination Committee Member	Associate Professor	Ph.D.
Dr. Luis Escobar Thesis Examination Committee Member	Assistant Professor	Ph.D.
Dr. Temidayo O. Akinbobola External Examiner Obafemi Awolowo University, Nigeria	Full Professor	Ph.D.
Dr. Ebenezer Asem Chair, Thesis Examination Committee	Associate Professor	Ph.D.

DEDICATION

This work is dedicated to the Almighty GOD who has given me the privilege to achieve this dream of studying abroad. I expressed this desire to Him quietly in 2015 and today it has become a reality.

I also dedicate this work to my beloved wife, Dr. Doyinfunmi Adeogun and my child- Jessica Adeogun. Words fail me to express how much I love you both!

ABSTRACT

One deleterious problem plaguing most developing countries like Nigeria is unemployment and free trade has been identified as a panacea by many studies. However, proponents of protectionism argue that the agricultural sector should be shielded from international trade competition. Since the agricultural sector is a major employment driver in Nigeria, the objective of this study is to investigate the impact of trade liberalization on aggregate and agricultural sector employment in Nigeria. Using multiple linear regression (MLR) with trade and employment data from 1991 – 2020, the study found that although trade openness increased employment in the agricultural sector, it had no significant effect on total unemployment. Also, the agricultural share of the GDP does not significantly affect aggregate employment. Furthermore, foreign direct investments promote aggregate employment while having a negative impact on the agricultural sector employment. The study recommends that trade openness be promoted to further improve the agricultural sector.

Keywords: Nigeria; Unemployment; Trade Liberalization; Agriculture; Protectionism

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Again, I am most grateful to God the giver of all good things. We cannot become anything except God approves of it. I am who I am today because of Him.

I appreciate the efforts of my co-supervisors- Dr. Bahareh Mosadegh Sedghy and Dr. Alexander Bilson Darku for their sacrifices, guidance, and corrections throughout this research. Also, I am particularly thankful to Dr. Bahareh for the research assistantship opportunity she gave me. I am equally grateful for the access and privilege given to me by Dr. Darku to reach out to him on his line anytime I am stranded at this work even when we are several hours apart. Your contributions will always be remembered.

I am indebted to the other members of my thesis committee- Dr. Danny Le Roy and Dr Luis Escobar. I want to thank you Dr. Danny Le Roy for the workshop and conference opportunities, for the books, and for the respect you accord me each time. Never called or treated me as a student. This did not go unnoticed. Likewise, Dr. Escobar who though joined towards the end was still able to significantly impact the quality of this study. Thank you!

I owe Dr. Robbin Derry so much for her all-round support. Thank you for the countless gifts, the evening walks to calm me down, the listening ears whenever I call, and the helping hands. Also, thank you for providing editorial support. Also indebted to Dr. Olu Awosoga for the access, honor, and assistance. Your contributions will always be remembered.

I appreciate Tammy Rogness for her sincere concerns and prompt responses. Thank you for adding empathy and kindness to your work as a top-notch administrator.

v

My heartfelt gratitude goes to my wife- Dr. Doyinfunmi Adeogun for her support. My dear, you are the hero here. You bore the financial, emotional, mental, and psychological burden that came with this program. I am happy we made it.

Last but not least, I want to appreciate my parents- Mr. Oludele Adeogun and Esther Ajibade, my sponsors- Pst (Dr) Odun Orioke, Pst (Mrs) Dunni Orioke, and Pst (Dr) Akinloluwa Orioke and others who raised me- Pst (Dr) Enoch Gbadegesin, Pst (Mrs) Modupe Gbadegesin, Pst (Prof) Niyi Onayemi and Pst (Mrs) Dupe Onayemi. God used you all to make this happen in my life.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Dedication
Abstractiv
Acknowledgementsv
List of Tables x
List of Figures xi
List of Abbreviations xii
Chapter 1: Introduction
1.1 Background of Study1
1.2 Economic Problem
1.3 Economic Research Problem
1.4 Research Purpose and Objectives7
1.5 Research Hypotheses
1.6 Scope of the Study9
1.7 Justification of the Study10
1.8 Organization of the Study10
Chapter 2: An Overview of the Trends in Employment and Trade Liberalization in Nigeria 11
2.1 Trade Liberalization History and its Impact on Nigeria11

2.2 Employment and Trade Trends in Nigeria14
Chapter 3: Literature Review
3.1 Theoretical Review
3.2 Empirical Review
3.3 Contribution to Literature
Chapter 4: Methodology 29
4.1 Model Specification
4.2 Econometric Approach
4.3 Data
4.4 Definition, Operationalization of Variables, and Expected Results
Chapter 5: Results and Discussion
5.1 Results
5.2 Discussion
5.2.1 Foreign Direct Investment and Employment In Nigeria
5.2.2 Protectionism in the Nigerian Agricultural Sector and Inclusiveness
5.2.3 Nigerian Economy and its Trade Performance
5.3 Post-Estimation Results
Chapter 6: Conclusion and Recommendations 50
6.1 Conclusion and Recommendations 50
6.2 Limitations and Recommendations for Future Research

References
Appendix
Appendix 1A: Descriptive Statistics
Appendix 2A: Pearson Correlation Matrix for Aggregate Employment
Appendix 2B: Pearson Correlation Matrix for Aggregate Employment
Appendix 3A: Unit Root Test for Aggregate Employment Model (Adf)
Appendix 3B: Unit Root Test for Agricultural Sector Employment Model (Adf)
Appendix 4A: Johansen Cointegration Test for the Aggregate Employment Model 64
Appendix 4B: Johansen Cointegration Test for the Agricultural Sector Employment Model . 64

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Regression result of trade liberalization and employment in Nigeria	
Table 2: Regression result of trade liberalization and employment in Nigeria with contro variables	1 41

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Graph of trade openness index in Nigeria between 1991 and 2020	14
Figure 2: Graph of aggregate employment in Nigeria between 1991 and 2020	15
Figure 3: Graph of agricultural sector employment in Nigeria between 1991 and 2020	16
Figure 4: Graph of agriculture's share of the GDP in Nigeria between 1991 and 2020	17

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ACP	African, Caribbean, and Pacific
ADB	Asian Development Bank
CBN	Central Bank of Nigeria
ECOWAS	Economic Communities of West African States
EPA	Economic Partnership Agreements
EU	European Union
FDI	Foreign Direct Investment
GATT	General Agreement on Trade and Tariff
ILO	International Labor Organization
IMF	International Monetary Fund
MNCs	Multinational Corporations
NBS	National Bureau of Statistics
NEITI	Nigeria Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative
OPEC	Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries
SAP	Structural Adjustment Programme
USA	United States of America
VAR	Vector Autoregressive
VECM	Vector error correction model
WDI	World Development Indicators
WTO	World Trade Organization

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background of Study

One of the significant problems plaguing most nations, especially developing economies, is unemployment (Fatukasi, 2011; Ayinde et al., 2016; Maku & Alimi, 2018). According to statistics from International Labor Organization (ILO, 2020), about half a billion people globally are unemployed or underemployed. Besides, youth unemployment is a significant concern (Agu, 2013; ILO, 2020). A whopping sum of 267 million young people (between ages 15-24 worldwide) are studying, jobless, or at least engaged in menial work (ILO, 2020). This pitiable state of unemployment has been described as threatening to global development (ILO, 2013; Sipahutar, 2016; Kalu, 2021). Although unemployment is a global problem, it is more apparent and worsening in developing countries such as Nigeria. Despite its extensive human capital, mineral, and natural resources the government has failed in translating its rich endowments into economic growth that benefits the masses (Standing, 1983). Thus, the levels of unemployment have increased from 18.8% to 33.3% from the third quarter of 2017 to the fourth quarter of 2021 (NBS, 2017a, b; 2021).

Prior to its independence, Nigeria's economy was mainly agricultural. Agriculture contributed over 50 percent of the gross domestic production (GDP) around 1960 (Izuchukwu, 2011). The discovery of oil and its immediate economic potential in the 1970s led to the neglect of agriculture as the primary economic lifeline for Nigeria. The oil boom has both its merits and demerits. For example, the oil sector aided the country in recovering from the setbacks induced by the civil war, which lasted from 1966 to 1969. The government used proceeds from the oil sector to finance rapid industrialization, consequently providing job opportunities for the youths (Effoduh, 2016).

The oil boom made many previously employed in the agricultural sector emigrate massively into the country's urban centers in search of greener pastures and white-collar jobs (Oloni et al., 2017). However, the fall in oil prices caused by a reduction in the world demand for oil which began in 1975, made many youths who left the agricultural sector become unemployed. This experience indicates that the oil sector cannot generate sustainable income and employment for the economy. In addition, the benefits of the growth in the oil sector have not reached the rural poor (Oloni, 2013).

According to the Asian Development Bank (ADB, 2011), inclusive growth, as a solution to unemployment, has recently attracted attention in Nigeria and has become a topic of interest in the world development agenda. Inclusive growth can be seen as output growth that spans decades, positively impacts different economic sectors, reduce poverty, and engages most of the labor force (Samans et al., 2015). To achieve this, the advocates propose that more investments should be made in the sectors that can generate sustainable income for everyone, irrespective of their social strata (Chang, 2014). In Nigeria, the agricultural sector has been recognized as one of these sectors (Babatunde et al., 2012; Oloni et al., 2017). However, the inclusive growth concept is still ambiguous and challenging to measure. It is arguable whether inclusive growth is a means to address unemployment or an end when the unemployment problem is solved. Undoubtedly, Nigeria's agricultural sector is more inclusive than the oil sector. For example, despite the setbacks to the farming sector, by the second quarter of 2020, agriculture has contributed 24.6 percent, while the oil sector contributed only 8.93 percent to the real GDP of Nigeria (NBS, 2020). Also, agriculture has a proven record of contributing more to poverty reduction and inclusive growth than the oil sector (Kanu et al., 2014; Oloni et al., 2017).

This is why the government instituted the myriads of intervention programs such as National Accelerated Food Production (NAFP), Agricultural Development Projects (ADPs), National Centre for Agricultural Mechanization (NCAM), Nigerian Agricultural Insurance Company (NAIC) and Structural Adjustment Program (SAP) among others (Ugwu & Kanu, 2012; Olukunle, 2013) The objectives of these programs are to improve the volume of profitable commercial crops, bring development into the agricultural sector through the setting up of infrastructure, mechanize Nigeria's agriculture, provide risk cover to Nigerian farmers, adjust the country's economic structure, and improve international competitiveness (Evbuomwan, 1997; Auta & Dafwang, 2010; Ogbonna, 2012). Notwithstanding, the contribution of agriculture to aggregate employment in the country reduced over the years. Employment in agriculture, which was 50.57 percent of total employment in 1991, reduced to 34.66 percent of total employment in 2020 (World Bank, 2022). This emphasizes the need for a more critical, holistic, and individualistic approach to solving this problem, especially considering the abundant endowments in the country.

It opens room for trade liberalization advocates to state that agriculture should also be treated like other sectors of the economy. Proponents of trade liberalization in agreement with trade theories argue that foreign competition due to openness will improve productivity. Also, openness will encourage specialization, increased outputs, efficient use of factors of production, increased wages, and consequently improve employment.

However, trade liberalization in the agricultural sector is subject to contentious debates as some believe that agriculture is an exception and needs to be supported and protected from international competition (i.e., protectionism). The opponents of trade liberalization, who argue for protectionism, state that price volatility, unstable farmers' income, and unpredictability of weather and environmental conditions are some of the reasons for state protection and assistance. Furthermore, protecting the agricultural sector from international competition will allow it to develop its strengths and promote exports (Gardner, 1992; Moon et al., 2016).

As it stands, there is no consensus among scholars on the impact of trade liberalization on employment. While some studies reveal the positive effects of trade liberalization on employment, some claim that the relationship is negative, while others indicate that trade openness does not affect employment (Dutt et al., 2009, Hasan et al., 2012). Considering this argument between proponents and opponents of trade liberalization, the previous employment impact, and the potential of the Nigerian agricultural sector, vis a vis the argument for protectionism in the sector, it is worth evaluating the effects of liberalization on employment in Nigeria.

1.2 Economic problem

Nigeria has a labor force of over 80 million people, of which over 24 million are between 25 to 34 years old (Kazeem, 2020). Currently, 26.6 million of the 80 million people who could be working in Nigeria are not. An economic problem owned by many of these 26.6 million people is their willingness but the inability to obtain gainful employment. This is an economic problem because satisfying their wants depends on their income which is a function of how much contribution they make in production, output, and revenue generation. Therefore, without gainful employment, less is produced, fewer goods and services are traded, and less is consumed. In addition, the smaller output does not make people richer; it makes them poorer.

Employment is a two-party affair; it only occurs if both the buyer and seller of labor deem it mutually and bilaterally beneficial. Labor is supplied because individuals anticipate and prioritize their rewards (wages) which also allows them to meet their own needs. On the other hand, the demand for labor is determined by its marginal physical product. The quantity demanded is a function of output level, revenue, quality, quantity and prices of complementary

capital, and labor inputs. When wage rates are above the point stipulated by the marginal physical product, excess workers are laid off, and vice versa. That is, when rates are below this point, employers bid against each other for more workers up to the point where there is no further marginal profit in hiring more or bidding up wages more.

The scale of unrealized productive (and hence, consumptive) opportunities created by unemployment in Nigeria is staggering. Despite the large number of these people who are searching and willing but unable to obtain employment, revenues earned by Nigerians' production of goods and services (more than US\$500 billion) still exceed that of producers in every other country in Africa (Kamer, 2022). The manufacturing sector is the largest on the continent and the largest source of consumer supply in other countries in West Africa. Oil reserves in Nigeria are the tenth largest in the world, totaling at least 38 billion barrels. Daily production of about two million barrels satisfies roughly 2.5% of global demand (Iledare & Suberu, 2010). According to Akuru and Okoro (2011), proven oil reserves can be increased to 40 billion barrels and daily output doubled.

The increase in wealth that would arise from an expansion in private-sector employment in Nigeria is considerable and easily perceptible but beyond precise quantification. The need to broaden and bolster wealth creation in the country is acutely critical. More than 40 percent of Nigeria's 170 million people have yet to escape poverty.

1.3 Economic research problem

It is a curious puzzle how the 26.6 million people in Nigeria manage to survive without the income stream from a job. What impact does increased demand through trade with other countries have on the situation? Is it positive, negative, or no effect? Also, are there differences

between labor markets in agriculture and agri-food from other markets for labor? Providing answers to these honest questions is the rationale behind this study.

It is appalling how the level of unemployment in Nigeria is so large and rising despite the considerable productive potential, particularly in agriculture and agri-food. Vast agricultural resources include a supportive climate, fertile soil, adequate annual rainfall, minerals, and an enormous, willing, and educated labor force. There are 34 million hectares of arable land in Nigeria, of which 6.5 million hectares are used for cropping, with the remainder serving as meadows and pastures (Sasu, 2022). Government initiatives focussed on boosting agriculture production have included programs such as the Agriculture Promotion Policy (APP), Anchor Borrowers Program (ABP), National Agricultural Technology and Innovation Plan (NATIP), etc. After the implementation of these programs, the contribution of agriculture to the gross domestic product in Nigeria increased from 24.6 percent in the second quarter of 2020 to 29.9 percent in the third quarter of 2021 (Statista, 2022). Despite this, the unemployment statistics in the country did not improve; instead, it increased to an all-time high of over 33 percent (NBS, 2021). A better understanding of the connection between labor markets and production, trade, and consumption is central to resolving the economic research problem of this study. There is an urgent need for information generated through economic research to help those struggling with unemployment issues.

According to the National Bureau of Statistics (NBS), youth unemployment (15-24 years) was 53.4 percent in the fourth quarter of 2020. Also, unemployment in the country plagues the educated and uneducated alike; however, it is worse even among skilled and learned manpower. By the fourth quarter of 2020, unemployment among illiterates in Nigeria was 28.4 percent

whereas 37.1 percent among those with a secondary school leaving certificate, and 40.1 percent among first-degree holders.

Unemployment is a major cause of poverty (McClelland & Macdonald, 1998; Makaringe & Khobai, 2018). According to White (1991), unemployed people reported that being unemployed is the worst thing that can happen to anyone. In addition, Macklin (1992) and Smith (1987) have shown a positive relationship between joblessness and poor health. Beyond the socio-economic consequences, it causes and promotes psychological stress among other effects (McClelland & Macdonald, 1998) including but not limited to increased crime rates, protests, and premature death (Makaringe & Khobai, 2018).

In theory, lower trade barriers improve resource allocation, expand employment opportunities, and increase wealth within and across geo-political boundaries. As free trade expands the number of potential buyers, it enhances the division of labor based on its comparative advantage. As the cost of production falls with total output increasing, the marginal revenue product of labor rises and leads to the bidding up of wages (Babatunde et al, 2012). Nonetheless, this has not been so in the past few years, despite Nigeria being a member of the World Trade Organization and having bilateral investment agreements with 31 countries.

1.4 Research purpose and objectives

Free trade is expected to create more jobs by reducing relative prices, expanding consumer choices, improving product quality, and improving resource usage. Although trade liberalization is presumed to improve overall and sectoral employment, empirical studies on some countries do not support this claim (Dutt et al., 2009, Hasan et al., 2012). Consequent to the increasing unemployment statistics despite the country's potential and trade liberalization in Nigeria in

recent years, the purpose of this study is to provide empirical evidence for the effects of trade liberalization on the agricultural sector and aggregate employment in Nigeria. Although trade theories suggest a positive outcome between trade and employment, the results may be counterintuitive.

To realize this purpose, the study has four objectives:

- 1. to identify and discuss employment and trade trends in Nigeria.
- 2. to investigate the impact of trade liberalization on employment in the agricultural sector.
- 3. to investigate the impact of trade liberalization on overall employment in Nigeria.
- to investigate the effect of agriculture's share of the GDP on aggregate employment in Nigeria.

Based on the anticipated research findings, recommendations that may improve the employment gain of trade liberalization in the agricultural sector and Nigeria's overall economy will be suggested. This may help decision-makers formulate better and informed policies that will consequently improve production and expand consumptive opportunities, thus enhancing employment in Nigeria.

1.5 Research Hypotheses

I disaggregate trade liberalization measures into trade volume and trade policy measures. The trade volume measure includes the trade openness index, foreign direct investments, and agricultural share of the gross domestic product. The growth outcome of trade in a country is greatly affected by macroeconomic stability which mirrors the effectiveness of trade policies. Therefore, the study employed inflation as a trade policy measure.

The focus of the study is involuntary unemployment in Nigeria. That is, people who are able and willing not being able to get jobs. According to trade theories and arguments from international trade organizations, trade liberalization is expected to improve employment and engender economic growth. Thus, this study seeks to empirically test the following hypotheses from the research objectives stated above.

Hypothesis 1: Trade Openness Index has a positive effect on aggregate employment in Nigeria.

Hypothesis 2: Trade Openness Index has a positive effect on agricultural sector employment in Nigeria.

Hypothesis 3: Foreign Direct Investments (FDI) have positive effects on aggregate employment in Nigeria.

Hypothesis 4: Foreign Direct Investments (FDI) have positive effects on agricultural sector employment in Nigeria.

Hypothesis 5: Agriculture's share of the gross Domestic Product (GDP) has a positive effect on aggregate employment in Nigeria.

1.6 Scope of the Study

The study considers employment and trade data from 1991 till 2020. This 30-year period is defined by availability of consistent data because earlier years were marked with a lot of missing data across the variables of interest. Also, the period coincides majorly with the post-structural adjustment program (SAP) era. Thus, a major part of the study focuses on Nigeria's trade and employment performance at the end of the SAP.

1.7 Justification of the Study

Generally, there is no consensus among the empirical studies on the employment effect of trade liberalization in Nigeria. To the best of my knowledge, although the agricultural sector is acknowledged as an employment driver in Nigeria, the effect of trade liberalization on employment in the sector has not been sufficiently investigated. Furthermore, despite the plethora of studies on trade, I could not find any study that has investigated the impact of the share of agricultural output in GDP on aggregate employment in Nigeria.

Again, this study may be a worthwhile task because although international institutions like World Bank, Africa Development Bank, and World Trade Organization argue for trade openness, there is a parallel argument in some studies for protectionism, especially in the agricultural sector.

1.8 Organization of the Study

The rest of this study is organized as follows. The second section discusses trade liberalization policies and their possible association with overall employment and employment in the agriculture sector. Section 3 presents a review of relevant literature on the nexus between trade liberalization and employment, while in section 4, the data, their sources, and econometric models are explained. It also discusses the variables that are used to empirically investigate the effects of trade liberalization on aggregate and agricultural sector employment in Nigeria. The results are presented and discussed in the fifth section. Also, possible explanations and factors that may be responsible for the findings were discussed here. Finally, the study is concluded in the sixth section where it offers some policy recommendations.

CHAPTER 2: AN OVERVIEW OF THE TRENDS IN EMPLOYMENT AND TRADE LIBERALIZATION IN NIGERIA

2.1 Trade liberalization history and its impact on Nigeria

The purpose of this chapter is to discuss the emergence and adoption of trade liberalization as a means to addressing unemployment in Nigeria. Also in this section, trade and employment data are graphically represented to better illustrate the economic performance of Nigeria, especially after the abolition of the structural adjustment program (SAP) in the country.

The desire to trade is innate to man and it is one of its oldest instincts. From the ancient and medieval periods to date, international trade has been a requisite engine for growth and economic progress (Ekesiobi et al., 2011). Smith (1776) noted, "The propensity to truck, barter, and exchange one thing for another is common to all men and to be found in no other race of animals".

The focus of traditional trade agreements was on reducing tariffs and other non-tariff barriers to trade. For instance, the General Agreement on Trade and Tariff (GATT) round of multilateral trade negotiations before the establishment of the World Trade Organization (WTO) in 1995 witnessed a period of high tariffs, especially after World War II. These high tariffs are forms of trade restrictions and the negotiations were about removing or reducing them to promote trade between countries. The success of traditional trade agreements in lowering tariffs is proof that such agreements seek to mitigate protectionist interests and increase trade (Rodrik, 2018). As of 1990, a total of 25 regional trade agreements have been reported to GATT since its inception in 1948 (WTO; Urata & Okabe, 2010). By January 1995, when the WTO was created, almost all members of GATT were signatories to at least one trade agreement or the other (Raquel &

Portes, 1998). The number increased to 91 by 2000 and climbed to 194 reported regional trade agreements by March 1, 2007 (Urata and Okabe, 2010). There are about 306 registered regional trade agreements with the WTO that are in force as of 20 September 2020 (WTO, 2020). Also, many FTAs go beyond the removal of tariffs to include other elements such as liberalization of foreign direct investments (FDI) policies, facilitation of trade and FDI, and economic cooperation (Urata and Okabe, 2010).

Nigeria as the largest economy in terms of GDP in Africa is a member and signatory to several multilateral and regional trade agreements through the West African Monetary Zone and Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS) just to mention a few. The effects of such agreements on trade are to remove barriers, reduce tariffs, and ensure outward-oriented policies (Nabine, 2009). Nigeria, as a major political player, accounts for more than 50 percent of the entire ECOWAS region. Nigeria is also a key contributor to the enhancement of regional peace and democracy within the ECOWAS sub-region. Despite that the country is a major force, controlling about 60 percent of the bloc's trade; there are still limitations in trade in terms of products and destination markets. 25 percent of its overall trade is within European Union (EU) which absorbs about 22 percent of Nigeria's export making it second only to the United States of America (U.S.A) according to the National Bureau of Statistics (NBS, 2006). Statistics from the European Commission reveal that petroleum products account for about 94 percent of Nigeria's trade while foodstuffs and animal products made up about 3 percent in 2006 (Nwali and Arene, 2015). The 2000 Cotonou agreement demands that countries negotiate new trade agreements between the European Union and the 79 African, Caribbean, and Pacific (ACP) countries. These new set of trade agreements are called Economic partnership agreements (EPAs) between the EU and the ACP regional groupings. The negotiations which started in 2002 were planned to be

concluded in 2007. However, a larger percentage of the ACP economies did not conclude negotiations by 2007 as planned (Andriamananjara et al, 2009). The aim of the Economic Partnership Agreements (EPAs) between West Africa and the European Union (EU) is to facilitate trade. It is expected that through these relations, trade liberalization will deepen development, engender sustainable growth, and poverty reduction will take place in the ECOWAS sub-region (Onogwu and Arene, 2013). The EPAs are instituted to help West African countries integrate into the world economy and benefit from the privileges available within and outside their sub-region through globalization. According to ECOWAS Statistical Bulletin (2008), the agreements also seek to widen the trade cooperation in areas like services, acting as a catalyst of change to trigger reform and bolster rule of law in the economic field, and as such attracting foreign direct investment (FDI) that will help stimulate growth (Nwali and Arene, 2015).

Nigeria has enjoyed privileged access to the EU market for about three decades. However, the intended benefits seem unrealized in terms of economic development. That is, preferential treatment has not yielded much in boosting local economies and engendering growth in ECOWAS and ACP countries (Panagariya, 2002). Apart from this, during the Structural Adjustment Program (SAP) era- (1986-1993), most ECOWAS countries channeled policies to change and re-align aggregate domestic expenditure, specialization, and production trends to ameliorate over-dependence on imports; boost non-oil export base, and ensure steady economic growth (Babatunde, 2006). All these efforts notwithstanding, the implications of Economic Partnership Agreements (EPAs) on Nigeria's trade, in terms of trade volume, tariff income, and welfare remained unknown. Thus, the Nigerian policymakers are not adequately equipped in their negotiation bid to arrive at EPAs that will allow trade and growth interest of the sub-region

(Nwali and Arene, 2015). The trade openness index (the ratio of trade to GDP) trend also appears erratic and relatively low as can be seen in figure 1.



Figure 1: Graph of trade openness index in Nigeria between 1991 and 2020

2.2 Employment and trade trends in Nigeria

The unemployment problem in Nigeria dates to the 1980s (Babatunde et al., 2012). The current state of unemployment in the country shows that a solution is not yet at hand. As can be seen from Figure 2, the consistent unemployment increase in the last couple of years has caused the aggregate employment in the country to nosedive. According to the statistics from the NBS, unemployment in Nigeria in the past two years have been over 30 percent. Currently, it is put at 33.3 percent. However, this annual data from NBS was not available for the number of years under study. Thus, the study employed the data from World Bank which seem to be an underestimation of the reality in the country.



Figure 2: Graph of aggregate employment in Nigeria between 1991 and 2020

International trade has been identified as a panacea for unemployment in developing countries like Nigeria (Babatunde et al, 2012). The World Bank and International Monetary Fund (IMF) in a bid to improve economic growth and employment in developing countries have used trade liberalization conditions for obtaining loans and this has compelled many of these countries to embrace free trade (Yanikkaya, 2013). Economic growth in Nigeria has been strongly related to international trade. This includes the export boom in the agricultural sector and the oil boom in the 1970s (Babatunde et al., 2012). However, it is argued that the country fared better with the agricultural export-led growth. Critics have argued that the oil sector does not productively engage the abundant labor in the country as it is mainly capital intensive. This is consistent with the claims of Winter et al, (2004) that international trade through expanded market frontiers increases aggregate demand for labor-intensive goods and increases the wages and demand for abundant labor which is a comparative advantage in most developing countries. Currently, the oil export in Nigeria accounts for about 90 percent of the total exports in the country (Statista, 2022). Non-oil export and agricultural exports are less than 10 percent of Nigeria's export. This neglect of the agricultural sector has been accompanied by a relatively lower contribution of agriculture to the country's GDP and agricultural sector employment as can be seen in Figures 3 and 4. The downward sloping trend of employment in the agricultural sector is evident in Figure 3. Employment in the agricultural sector as a percentage of the total employment which was 50.57 percent in 1991 was 33.66 percent in 2020. Yet, this sector at its lowest point still employs labor more than the oil sector which according to a Nigeria Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (NEITI) report in 2018 employs just 0.03 percent of Nigeria's labor force.



Figure 3: Graph of agricultural sector employment in Nigeria between 1991 and 2020



Figure 4: Graph of agriculture's share of the GDP in Nigeria between 1991 and 2020

For instance, the agricultural share of GDP which was about 37 percent in 2002 was about approximately 24 percent by 2020. This shows that the Structural Adjustment Programme (SAP) which was adopted in 1986, to date has failed to deliver on its major mandate of diversifying the Nigerian economy from crude oil (Babatunde et al, 2012). According to data from Statista (2012), agricultural products account for about 2 percent of Nigeria's total export, however, it contributes about 24 percent of total GDP in the country compared to the oil sector which contributes about 7.5 percent despite accounting for about 90 percent of the country's exports.

Having discussed the historical development of trade liberalization in Nigeria and graphically shown the performance of the major variables of interest in this study, it is important to situate the study in the body of literature with a view to identifying gaps and appropriate methodological approach to addressing the research problem.

CHAPTER 3: LITERATURE REVIEW

This section reviews theoretical papers, applicable trade theories, and empirical studies with a view to providing the theoretical inclination of this study, establish gap, and identify weaknesses in the extant literatures thus justifying the need for this study. A review of the relevant empirical studies also provides guidance on the choice of data, variables, and methodology in addressing the objectives of this study.

3.1 Theoretical review

Although the nexus between trade and employment has been well discussed in the literature, the employment impact of trade has been a source of unending concern to policymakers (Edwards, 1998). Nevertheless, the employment gain from trade has been promoted through several theoretical models. David Ricardo developed the theory of comparative advantage in 1817 to explain why nations are involved in trade. According to the Ricardian comparative advantage theory, using a two-sector and single factor (labor) small country model, trade openness reduces unemployment. Trade liberalization will increase the relative domestic price of the export commodity due to an expanded market (demand), which leads to higher demand of labour. This was proven true by the studies of Felbermayr et al. (2011) in their heterogeneous firm productivity model. However, the study of Helpman and Itskhoki (2010) finds a contrary result in the presence of different goods, a heterogeneous sector with labor-market friction, and a homogenous sector without labor-market frictions. They discovered that trade increases unemployment in a country with a more flexible labor market.

Another prominent theory is Okun's law (1962). Arthur Melvin Okun postulated that trade through economic growth in a country would improve employment in that country. Okun stated that when

there is a 2 percent increase in output (gross domestic product), such output growth will be accompanied by a 1 percent decline in cyclical unemployment, 1 percent increase in labor productivity, 0.5 percent increase in labor force involvement, and the number of hours worked per unit of labor (Okun, 1962). Although Okun mathematically established the regression link between unemployment and output, his conclusions have been criticized for being deficient in economic reasoning and ambitious (Harris & Silverstone, 2001). Nigeria's unemployment and growth statistics have also defied this because the employment rate did not improve despite GDP growth in the last decade. For example, Although Nigeria recorded an average of 6.4 percent economic growth between 2000 and 2011, unemployment increased from 1.8 percent to 23.9 percent between 1995 and 2011 according to the Central Bank of Nigeria (CBN) Annual Report.

Trade-employment nexus has also been explained using the specific factor model. Yanikkaya (2013) opined that this model better explains the trade-employment nexus in developing countries. According to Edwards (1998), in the short-run, under the assumption of capital specificity, labor mobility, and inelastic aggregate factor supply, there will be increased employment in the export-promoting sector and decreased employment in the import-competing sector. To explain the long-run situation, a four-sector model was employed, with capital (K) and labor (L) in each sector, and capital can also move between sectors. The model posits that employment will increase in the export-promoting sector, whereas there will be a decline in employment in the import-competing sector. Thus, this model states that trade is expected to improve the overall employment in developing countries because the labor intensity of the export sector is assumably higher in these countries. If this holds true in Nigeria, then the study will not reject the first and second hypotheses that trade openness has a positive effect on aggregate and agricultural employment in Nigeria, respectively. However, empirical study by Haouas et al. (2005) on the impact of trade liberalization

on employment in Tunisia does not confirm this theory. The possible failure of the theory is because it is predicated on the assumption of a fixed supply of labor which is not always true in practice.

There is no consensus on the impact of trade on employment. The critics of trade liberalization contend that some policies may restrict international trade and yet improve citizens' welfare. Therefore, it is overarching to judge a policy as antihuman because it negatively correlates with economic growth metrics. (Rodriguez & Rodrik, 2000). Intuitively, the increased output may not necessarily guarantee employment or improve per capita income. This could be because the growth is not intensively engaging the abundant labor. Also, the growth effects of trade can be annulled by faster population growth. Thus, there is a need for studies that consider these welfare implications of economic growth. Besides, some scholars posit that trade may be detrimental to the employment prospect of unskilled workers because it engenders technological growth that makes these unskilled workers irrelevant and jobless (Meroyi, 2016). The theoretical model of Bhagwati (1958) stated that openness is detrimental to developing or agrarian economies. He noted that export-led growth could worsen the terms of trade so much that the gains from liberalized trade become inconsequential. Thus, the study may reject the first and second hypotheses.

The gains from trade are affected by different factors such as quality institutions (Dollar & Kraay, 2004) as well as a country's geographical attributes like population, country size, and per capita income (Frankel & Romer, 1999). The geographical concentration of economic activities is vital in modeling trade. Krugman (1998) argues that the effects of these geographical factors have not been well catered for in most of the extant empirical studies. However, it is assumed that they are indirectly proxied by trade volume measures (such as Foreign Direct Investment), although the partial effect of each remains unknown (Dollar & Kraay, 2004).

Hence, FDI is a good proxy for a country's absorptive capacity and institutional quality (Azman-Saini & Law, 2010; Azman-Saini et al., 2010). According to the endogenous growth models (the FDI spillovers theory), the welfare of people in developing countries can be improved because of their relative backwardness through the "contagion" effect (Baltabaev, 2014). If the FDI spillover theory holds in Nigeria as a developing country, there should be a positive relationship between FDI and employment. This means that the study will not reject the third and fourth hypotheses that FDI has positive effects on aggregate and agricultural sector employment in Nigeria, respectively.

However, the new growth model suggests that FDI may not engender growth due to the crowdingout effect of the domestic businesses; instead, it transfers capital stock to strangers (de Mello Jr, 1997; Agosin & Machado, 2005). This happens when the foreign businesses compete for skilled labor and other scarce resources, compete in projects that the local businesses could have done, and finance their investments through loans from the host country. These increase interest rates in the host country and repatriate profits to foreigners. Herzer (2012) alluded to this and argued that FDI does not improve welfare in developing countries. Thus, theoretical studies are indecisive about FDI-growth impacts. The differences in results in cross-country analyses are contingent upon country-specific factors. A positive outcome depends on having quality institutions in the host country in terms of reduced government intervention, reduced volatility, less dependence on the primary sector, and improved economic freedom. Hence, because Nigeria's economy is arguably defiant to these conditions, one may expect that FDI may not improve aggregate employment in Nigeria. Also, according to Herzer (2012), the primary sector (agricultural sector inclusive), unlike the manufacturing sector, has fewer spillover linkages to the host economy. Thus, it means that FDI may also not improve employment in the Nigerian agricultural sector. In

this case, the study will reject the third and fourth hypotheses that FDI has positive effects on aggregate and agricultural sector employment in Nigeria, respectively.

Considering the disagreement on the impact of trade liberalization on employment, this study investigates the employment impact of free trade in Nigeria to find out if Heckscher-Ohlin's theory holds true in Nigeria. This theory asserts that a country should export goods that use the abundant factor and import those that intensively utilize the relatively scarce factor. He argued that this would make trade liberalization improve aggregate employment and wages of the abundant unskilled labor in developing countries than their developed counterparts (Wood, 1994, 1997; Winters et al., 2004; Dutt et al., 2009; Babatunde et al., 2012). Thus, if Heckscher-Ohlin's theory is applicable in Nigeria, promoting agricultural exports can reduce unemployment and poverty because it engages the abundant labor in the country. This position has been held in the literature that the Nigerian agricultural sector is a major employment driver in the economy. Nonetheless, to my knowledge, few studies have empirically studied the effects of agricultural production (agriculture's share of GDP) on aggregate employment in Nigeria. Hence, the fifth hypothesis that agriculture's share of GDP will have positive effect on aggregate employment in Nigeria.

Previous studies have established that overall growth in the economy does not guarantee growth in the individual sectors. They argued that the supposed increase in the output of one sector could harm the other sector(s) (Matsuyama, 1992; Said & Elshennawy, 2010). This phenomenon where improvement in a sector causes harm to the other sector is called Dutch Disease. Hence, sectoral impact analysis has been argued for in the extant literature on trade impact, which is why the 'Dutch disease' concept has become quite popular in trade discussion. Also, the aggregation effect has been criticized by Wang (2009) for undermining sectoral contributions. It was noted that trade liberalization measures like Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) are sometimes sector-specific. That is, Multinational Corporations (MNCs) invest in different sectors. Thus, studies that investigate such investment impact on aggregate employment or overall economic growth do not only blur out their effects but also publish confusing results (Wang, 2009). Furthermore, Wilson (1960) argued that policies that affect the output of the labor-intensive sector exert the most employment impact. Since the agricultural sector in Nigeria is still labor-intensive, the need for more empirical investigations of the agricultural sector is intuitive. However, it has not received the attention it deserves in Nigeria.

3.2 Empirical review

Insights from general empirical studies suggest that the impacts of trade liberalization on the economy are not definitive but contingent on several other factors (Kareem, 2010; Kalu and Agodi, 2015; Yakubu and Akanegbu, 2015). One of such factors is the human capital level. For instance, while Şener (2001) demonstrates that the employment of unskilled labor is worsened by trade liberalization, Loganathan et al. (2011), used Malaysian data from 1980-2010, and found that trade liberalization improves sectoral productivity, which consequently improves employment of both skilled and unskilled labor in the country.

Another important factor identified in empirical studies is the time factor. The effect of trade liberalization differs between long-run and short-run periods. Felbermayr et al. (2011), who employed panel data for 20 Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) countries, also found that structural unemployment is reduced by trade openness in the long run. However, Haouas et al. (2005) used data from 1971 to 1996 to investigate the short-term and long-term effects of trade liberalization on employment and wage in Tunisia. They established that trade

liberalization benefits the labor market both in the short and long run. However, the shreds of evidence are relatively few. Thus, it may be too early to conclude that the long-term effect of trade on employment will always be positive.

In addition, the impact of trade on employment is contingent on the condition of the labor market. According to Kim (2011), the effect of trade liberalization on unemployment is conditional on how rigid or flexible the labor market institutions are. Using panel data from 1961-2008 from 20 OECD countries, they concluded that trade worsens employment in a very rigid labor market situation and improves where the labor institutions are more flexible. On the other hand, the author states that there exists no significant relationship between trade and unemployment in an averagely rigid labor market. However, the classification into 'very rigid' and 'averagely rigid' may be difficult to delineate and thus not objective enough. Furthermore, Hasan et al. (2012) employed data from India National Sample Survey Organization (NSSO) to evaluate the impact of trade on unemployment at both industry and state levels. The authors asserted that unemployment in the urban areas reduces with increased trade liberalization, especially in states and industries with labor market flexibility.

Also, the effect of trade liberalization on employment depends on the developmental stage of the countries involved. Cho et al. (2008) argued that Porter's diamond model does not effectively cater to developing economies as it appears more relevant to developed countries. According to Kim (2011), aggregate unemployment is worsened by imports from developed economies. In contrast, no significant relationship exists between other trade variables like total trade, total imports, imports from emerging economies, and aggregate unemployment. Yanikkaya (2013) also investigated the effect of trade liberalization on employment in developing and developed nations
using data from 1980 to 1999 for 100 developed and developing countries. The study alleged that most developing countries have not benefitted from trade in terms of job creation. Therefore, the author concluded that for developing countries to benefit from trade liberalization, they must bolster their institutions, provide all forms of capital, and make the right policies.

There is a consensus in the literature that the economic success of a nation does not depend on trade liberalization or protectionism alone but also on some other macroeconomic policies by the government that create the necessary environment where the dividends of open trade can be reaped (Rodrick 1998; Winters, 2004). These, according to Newfarmer & Sztajerowska (2012) are called companion or supportive policies. This has been alluded to by many studies on the Nigerian economy that found the positive impact of trade on employment to be absent. For instance, Kareem (2010) analyzed data between 1970 and 2004 to measure trade impacts on employment in Nigeria. It was found that trade liberalization does not improve employment in the country. Also, Balogun and Dauda (2012) employed data between 1985-2010 to study the relationship between trade liberalization, job creation, and poverty reduction in Nigeria. They found that although trade openness fosters an increase in output and economic growth, these do not improve the unemployment and poverty situation in the country. Akims (2014) established that the total removal of every form of trade restriction within the Economic Communities of West African States (ECOWAS) region would improve wages and employment in Nigeria. According to Meroyi (2016), an inconducive economy caused by ineffective policies is responsible for Nigeria's trade liberalization failure. He attributed the failure to the fact that Nigeria, a labor-abundant country, has embraced and maintained a capital-intensive posture that neglects the primary sector. A highly skill-intensive economic stance disfavors the uneducated, unskilled, and less educated surplus labor in the country because it favors the use of machines over human labor. Another policy issue identified by the author is macroeconomic stability in Nigeria. Raifu (2017) and Onifade et al. (2020) found that inflation improves employment according to the Phillip's curve theory. Thus, Onifade et al. (2020) contend that caution must be exercised in combating inflation within the economy so that trade is not promoted at the expense of improved employment. The study analyzed data from 1981-2017 and however concluded that trade openness has been detrimental to unemployment in Nigeria. The authors argue that while the importance of trade liberalization cannot be overemphasized, the government must exercise discretion to ensure a conducive policy framework where the dividends of trade liberalization can be realized.

Despite these purported policy failures, Nigeria has experienced economic growth in the past years and is regarded as the "giant of Africa" with the largest economy on the continent. However, this economic growth (mostly proxied by GDP) has been criticized for not being inclusive (Balogun and Dauda, 2012; Oloni, 2013). This notwithstanding, there have been some positive results from empirical analyses. Nwaka et al. (2015) analyzed time-series data from 1970-2010, and they found that real output reduces unemployment in Nigeria. Similarly, Oniore et al. (2015), using data from 1981-2014, established that the GDP growth rate reduces unemployment in Nigeria.

Consequent to my empirical review, the central argument of protectionists, which is poor methodology and variable choices, was identified in some studies in Nigeria. It is plausible that this methodological weakness is responsible for the contrasting trade-employment results. Nwaka et al. (2015) and Oniore et al. (2015), while studying the trade-employment nexus, used trade openness and degree of openness (DOP) respectively as their trade liberalization metrics. Although their results show that both worsen employment in Nigeria, it is unclear if trade openness and degree of openness mean the same thing because the authors did not indicate the measurement

criteria of these similar variables. On the other hand, Akinyemi et al. (2014) studied the relationship between trade liberalization and employment in Nigeria with data set between 2003 and 2007. They claimed that trade openness significantly benefits employment in Nigeria's agricultural, manufacturing, transport, quarrying, and mining sector of Nigeria. The study also stated that other variables like foreign direct investment and trade tariffs significantly affect Nigeria's employment figure. However, these claims can be questioned based on the paucity of data employed.

Thus, it can also be concluded that findings on the relationship between trade liberalization and employment are still inconclusive due to several factors like differences in variables employed, whether the country being understudied is a developed or developing country, research methods, and scope of the study, among others. These perceived weaknesses itemized above and the lack of consensus on the impact of trade on employment in Nigeria justify the need for more empirical works.

3.3 Contribution to Literature

The Nigeria agricultural sector has been identified as an inclusive growth sector with the potential to combat the unemployment problem being faced by the country (Kanu et al., 2014; Oloni et al., 2017). Also, according to the classical trade theories, trade liberalization is beneficial to countries (Van Berkum & Van Meijl, 1998). However, while several studies like Raifu (2017), Onifade et al. (2020) and others have discussed the impact of trade liberalization on the total employment level in Nigeria, to the best of our knowledge, none considered the impact of trade on the agricultural sector employment despite its potential to improve employment in the country. Thus, the study's contribution to the literature will be primarily to estimate the effects (both magnitude

and direction) of trade liberalization on employment in the Nigerian agricultural sector. The study also assesses if trade liberalization has a similar impact on aggregate employment. Furthermore, I investigate the impact that agricultural contribution to GDP has on aggregate employment in Nigeria with a view to understanding how the sectoral output impacts the overall employment.

CHAPTER 4: METHODOLOGY

4.1 Model specification

This study seeks to investigate the impact of trade liberalization on both aggregate and agricultural sector employment in Nigeria. In this chapter, the model specification, econometric approach, data, and variable operationalization with respect to the research problem are discussed.

Previous studies on the impacts of trade on employment used diverse methodological approaches based on their research objectives. For instance, Haouas et al., (2005), Kareem (2010), Loganathan (2011), Balogun and Dauda (2012), and Yanikkaya (2013) employed generalized method of moments (GMM), multiple linear regression (MLR), granger non-causality analysis, computer general equilibrium (CGE), and seemingly unrelated regression (SUR), respectively.

The general idea is that increase in trade can facilitate investments, increase output, expand the market, increase revenue, improve wages, transfer skills, lead to innovation, enhance technology, and consequently improve employment. The model employed in this study is based on the study of Dutt et al. (2009). The theoretical derivation of this model has been extensively done in section two (on theory) of Dutt et al. (2009). The authors based on Heckscher-Ohlin's theory posited (proposition 2, page 5) that a decrease in trade barriers will improve employment in the labor-abundant country and decrease employment in the capital-abundant country.

Following Dutt et al. (2009), the model is linearly specified as follows;

Unemployment_i = $\alpha_0 + \alpha_1 T R_i + X_i \beta + \varepsilon_i$(1)

Where TR_i denotes the extent of trade restrictions in country i, Unemployment_i is the measure of unemployment, and X_i is the row vector of control variables.

Substituting employment for unemployment and trade liberalization for trade restriction in equation (1), the model for this study is specified thus;

 $Employment_i = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 T L_i + X_i \beta + \varepsilon_i.....(2)$

Substituting E_i for Employment_i in equation 2, the model becomes

$$E_i = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 T L_i + X_i \beta + \varepsilon_i....(3)$$

$$E_{it} = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 T L_{it} + X_{it}\beta + \varepsilon_{it}.....(4)$$

Where E_{it} is the employment rate, TL_{it} is the extent of trade liberalization in country i, X_{it} is the row vector of control variables and ε_{it} denotes the error term.

The trade liberalization measure was disaggregated into the trade openness index and foreign direct investment. The trade openness index is proxied by the ratio of the sum of export and import to GDP (X+M/GDP). Although Sahoo (2009) and Fouladi (2010) argued that agricultural protectionism measures can stimulate the sector, classical trade theories argue otherwise. Thus, Fosu (2019) argued that agricultural share of GDP may be a predictor of employment in the Sub-Saharan Africa countries. Hence, agriculture's share of GDP is thus included in the regression model. Also, economic growth in developing economies is significantly affected by the level of macroeconomic stability (Darku & Yeboah, 2018). Therefore, the study includes inflation to capture the level of macroeconomic stability within the time under study. The trade-related variables which include trade openness, foreign direct investment, agriculture's share of GDP and

trade policy measure (inflation) are substituted for TL_{it}. The variables are denoted by TO_{it}, FDI_{it}, AGDP_{it}, and INF_{it}, respectively.

Substituting these variables for TL_{it} in equation 4

It must be recalled that the main interest of the study is to investigate the impact of trade liberalization on aggregate and agricultural sector employment. Therefore, the independent variables include the trade openness index, foreign direct investment, inflation, agriculture share of the gross domestic product, and inflation.

To estimate the β parameters in equation 5, the baseline model (without control variables) is specified as follows;

$$E_{it} = \alpha_0 + \beta_1 (TO)_{it}, + \beta_2 (FDI)_{it}, + \beta_3 (INF)_{it} + \beta_4 (AGDP)_{it} + \varepsilon_{it}.....(6)$$

Education or other measures that facilitate knowledge transfer can be used as a substitute for technological progress (Grossman & Helpman 1991a, 1991b; Aghion and Howitt 1992). The study thus includes human capital index (high school enrolment) and economic freedom index represented by HC_{it} and EF_{it}, respectively. According to growth literature, labor growth can be proxied by the population growth rate (Darku and Yeboah, 2018). Lastly, Fosu (2019) asserted that increased government consumption expenditure in the Sub-Saharan African countries negatively impacts employment in the region. Summarily, the human capital index, economic freedom index, total population, and government consumption expenditure are all included as control variables.

Substituting the independent variables for TL_{it}, and the four control variables, education (HC)_{it}, total population (POP)_{it}, economic freedom index (EF)_{it}, and government consumption expenditure (GCE)_{it} for $X_{it}\beta$ in equation 4, the trade-employment model is written as;

 $E_{it} = \alpha_0 + \beta_1 (TO)_{it} + \beta_2 (FDI)_{it} + \beta_3 (INF)_{it} + \beta_4 (AGDP)_{it} + \beta_5 (POP)_{it} + \beta_6 (HC)_{it} + \beta_7 (GCE)_{it} + \beta_8 (EF)_{it} + \varepsilon_{it}.$ (7)

To evaluate the impact of trade liberalization on employment in the agricultural sector and aggregate employment in Nigeria, we denote the first dependent variable, aggregate employment with TEMP and the second dependent variable, agricultural sector employment, as AEMP. Substituting TEMP_{it} for E_{it} in equation 7, the trade and aggregate employment model is specified below as follows.

Substituting AEMP_{it} for E_{it} in equation 7, the trade and agricultural employment model is specified below as follows.

Where AEMP and TEMP represent agricultural and aggregate employment rates, respectively. TO represents the ratio of imports and exports to GDP, FDI denotes foreign direct investment, INF represents inflation, AGDP represents the agricultural share of GDP, POP stands for the population growth rate, HC denotes the level of human capital development popularly measured using secondary school enrollment, GCE stands for government consumption expenditure, and EF

denotes the economic freedom index. ε represents the stochastic error term. β_0 is the intercept, while β_1 , β_2 , β_3 , β_4 , β_5 , β_6 , β_7 , and β_8 represent the unknown slope parameters.

4.2 Econometric approach

The econometrical approach employed is the ordinary least square method, namely the Multiple Linear Regression (MLR) since our datasets are multivariate time series. MLR as an extension of the ordinary least squares (OLS) technique is modeled such that the outcome variable is a linear function of the regressors. Here, several explanatory variables are used to predict the outcome of the dependent variable. This is the advantage of this approach over the simple ordinary linear regression. The approach helps to predict and forecast future trends using the line of best fit.

The study controlled for other variables that affect employment. Several post estimation techniques were employed which include Akaike and Bayesian information criterion for determining the best model, variance inflation factor to determine the multicollinearity level, and the Durbin-Watson d-statistics, and Breusch-Godfrey LM test to detect autocorrelation. Other techniques that could have been used to address this research problem include the Vector autoregressive (VAR) model and the Vector error correction model (VECM). However, all the variables must be co-integrated to establish a long-run relationship between them; otherwise, the latter cannot be used. Autoregressive distributed lag (ARDL) was not used because the data were not all stationary as required. It can only be used for time-series data when all the data are stationary at most after the first difference. Therefore, MLR was used to run the model because the outcomes of the stationarity and cointegration tests show that the other methods above may not be suitable.

4.3 Data

Considering the scope and objectives of the study, secondary data from 1991 to 2020 were used. This period was defined by the availability of data for all the variables of interest. Data for years prior to 1991 were characterized by missing data for some of the variables. Also, this 30-year period coincided with Nigeria's embrace of trade liberalization and the signing of trade agreements. Since the structural adjustment programme (SAP) in Nigeria was between 1986 and 1993, the study thus focused more on the post-SAP period and how the country has fared in terms of trade openness and employment. All the data were obtained from the World development indicators of the World Bank except secondary school enrolment data and economic freedom index data which were retrieved from the National Bureau of Statistics (NBS) in Nigeria and The Heritage Foundation, respectively. The development of the economic freedom index started in 1995 by The Heritage Foundation and The Wall Street Journal, inspired by Adam Smith's work "The Wealth of Nations".

4.4 Definition, operationalization of variables, and expected results

Employment- According to the international labor organization (ILOSTAT database) and World Development Indicators (WDI), employment is defined as persons of working age who, during a short reference period, were engaged in any activity to produce goods or provide services for pay or profit, whether at work during the reference period (i.e., who worked in a job for at least one hour) or not at work due to temporary absence from a job, or to working-time arrangements. Ages 15 and older are generally considered the working-age population. The study considered the percentage of the total labor force in the agricultural sector and the overall economy as dependent variables.

Trade Openness- This is empirically defined as the ratio of the sum of imports and exports to gross domestic product (Yanikkaya, 2013; Kpognon et al., 2020). According to the trade theories, trade agreements, and international organizations like World Bank, it is expected that trade openness will improve employment. Hence, we anticipate that the coefficient of trade openness (β_1) will show a positive relationship with employment.

Foreign Direct Investment- According to WDI, FDI refers to the net inflows of investment to acquire a lasting management interest in a company operating in an economy other than the investor. It is the sum of equity capital, reinvestment of earnings, additional long-term capital, and short-term capital, as shown in the balance of payments. FDI is very crucial in employment generation, especially in Nigeria and other African countries where capital is lacking or insufficient (Fosu, 2019). The relationship between employment and the coefficient of foreign direct investment (β_2) is expected to be positive.

Inflation- According to WDI, inflation, as measured by the consumer price index, reflects the annual percentage change in the cost to the average consumer of acquiring a basket of goods and services that may be fixed or changed at specified intervals, such as yearly. The effect of the coefficient of inflation (β_3) cannot be determined a priori. It could be negative or positive. Moderate inflation in the economy sometimes triggers growth (Darku & Yeboah, 2018). So, intuitively, moderate inflation may improve employment. Otherwise, high inflation is detrimental and expected to correlate with employment negatively.

Agriculture Share of Gross Domestic Product- This refers to the percentage of the total gross domestic product that agriculture contributes. According to WDI, it includes forestry, hunting, fishing, and cultivation of crops and livestock production. Value added is the net output of a

sector after adding up all outputs and subtracting intermediate inputs. It is calculated without deductions for depreciation of fabricated assets or depletion and degradation of natural resources. I expect that the relationship between the coefficient of agriculture share of GDP (β_4) will show a positive relationship with employment.

Population growth- This refers to the increase in the number of people living in a place per time. According to WDI, the annual population growth rate for year t is the exponential rate of growth of midyear population from year t-1 to t, expressed as a percentage. The population is based on the de facto definition of population, which counts all residents regardless of legal status or citizenship. The relationship between the coefficient of population growth and employment also cannot be determined a priori. β_5 will be positive if population growth drives production and, consequently, employment. And it may be negative if the population growth rate is faster than output growth.

Human Capital - According to WDI, human capital refers to the knowledge, skills, and health that people accumulate over their lives—is a central driver of sustainable growth and poverty reduction. More human capital is associated with higher earnings for people, higher income for countries, and stronger cohesion in societies. In empirical studies, this is usually proxied as the secondary school enrolment rate (Okafor, 2012; Adejumo et al., 2021). The relationship between employment and the coefficient of human capital development (β_6) is expected to be positive.

Government consumption expenditure- According to WDI, this refers to all current expenses incurred by the government on goods and services (including employees' remuneration). The scope of such spending is not expected to improve employment. Instead, it may negatively affect employment since the government will have less to invest because resources are limited. Since it

36

also includes national defense and security spending, this expenditure is expected to have increased in Nigeria in the past few years because of the terrorism and insurgencies ravaging every part of the country. Thus, investment expenditure and job creation may be the alternative forgone (Fosu, 2019). As such, the relationship between employment and the coefficient of government consumption expenditure (β_7) is expected to be negative.

Economic Freedom- According to the Heritage Foundation, the economic freedom index measures the impact of liberty and free markets around the globe. The index has four major components: the rule of law, government size, regulatory efficiency, and open markets. The components involve property rights, judicial effectiveness, government integrity, business freedom, labor freedom, monetary freedom, tax burden, government spending, trade freedom, investment freedom, and financial freedom, among others. I anticipate a positive relationship between the coefficient of Economic freedom (β_8) and employment.

CHAPTER 5: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

5.1 Results

In this section, the descriptive statistics for all the data employed, correlation matrices for aggregate and agricultural sector employment, and the multiple linear regression results are presented and discussed.

From Appendix 1A, 30-year datasets were employed except for the economic freedom index, which started in 1995 because the data was not available for 1991-1994. Over the years, the mean employment in the agricultural sector has been 44 percent. This suggests that the sector has been essential in terms of employment in Nigeria. The range of inflation over the years is 67 percent. Also, population growth in the last 30 years has been phenomenal. The maximum population is more than double the minimum value. In addition, human capital, proxied as secondary school enrolment, has significantly improved over the years. The maximum secondary school enrolment between 1991-2020 is four times the minimum within the same period. Therefore, it is intuitive to investigate the correlation relationship between these variables.

As can be seen in Appendix 2A, the correlation result for the aggregate employment model were as expected. For example, inflation and population growth showed a positive relationship. Demand-pull inflation is expected, especially when the population grows faster than production. Also, government consumption expenditure increases as the population increases. In addition, foreign direct investment inflow increased as economic freedom increased. This may suggest that the freer the economy is, the higher the rate of foreign investment. The correlation showed that increased FDI has not been beneficial to employment in the agricultural sector. Also, a positive relationship exists between agricultural output and employment in the agricultural sector. with the Phillips curve theory which claims that employment improves as inflation increases (Phillips, 1958).

The primary purpose of this study is to investigate the impact of trade liberalization on the aggregate employment in Nigeria.

Table 1. Regression result of trade openness and employment in Nigeria			
	Aggregate Employment	Agriculture Employment	
Variable	Coefficients (P-value)	Coefficients (P-value)	
FDI	0.0036 (0.349)	-0.0490 (0.027) **	
TRADE OPENNESS	0.0319 (0.232)	0.2829 (0.063)	
AGRGDP	0.0017 (0.069)	0.0126 (0.016) **	
INFLATION	0.0002 (0.481)	0.0020 (0.111)	
Adjusted R ²	0.08	0.45	
NT , 444 144 1 , · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	10/ 100/ 11		

Note. *** and ** denote significance at 1% and 5%, respectively

In Table 1 above, using data from 1991-2020, the result from the multiple linear regression using a log-linear functional form shows that foreign direct investment, trade openness, inflation, and agricultural share of GDP do not significantly affect aggregate employment in Nigeria. Therefore, the study rejects the first hypothesis that trade openness has a positive effect on aggregate employment in Nigeria. Although Nigeria is labor-abundant, openness did not enhance its aggregate employment. The study also provides evidence to reject the third hypothesis that FDI has a positive effect on aggregate employment in Nigeria when other factors are held constant. Likewise, when other factors are held constant, the agricultural output does not drive aggregate employment in Nigeria. Therefore, we also reject the fifth hypothesis that the agricultural share of the GDP has a positive effect on aggregate employment in Nigeria.

The model also showed a low adjusted R^2 value (8 percent). This means that the four variables explain only 8 percent of changes in aggregate employment in Nigeria. This suggests that other

significant determinants of aggregate employment in Nigeria have not been included in the model.

On the other hand, the result of the impact of trade liberalization on employment in the Nigerian agricultural sector in the third column showed a different pattern compared to aggregate employment. Overall, the adjusted R² value is higher when compared to the aggregate employment model. It suggests that the independent variables are responsible for 45 percent of changes in the agricultural sector employment. Increased FDI in the economy reduced employment in the Nigerian agricultural sector. A unit increase in foreign direct investments reduced employment in the agricultural sector by five percent. This could be because the FDI inflow to Nigeria does not actively engage the abundant labor in the agricultural sector. The practice of agriculture in Nigeria is still majorly subsistence and labor-intensive. Therefore, the study rejects the fourth hypothesis that FDI has a positive effect on employment in the Nigerian agricultural sector. Also, the result showed that agricultural output is a driver of employment in the sector. A unit increase in agricultural output increased employment in the sector by one percent. However, inflation and trade openness do not significantly affect employment in the sector. Therefore, this study rejects the second hypothesis that trade openness has a positive effect on employment in the Nigerian agricultural sector.

	Aggregate Employment	Agriculture Employment	
Variable	Coefficients (P-value)	Coefficients (P-value)	
FDI	0.9714 (0.029) **	-0.3938 (0.036) **	
TRADE OPENNESS	-0.3972 (0.845)	2.2118 (0.018) **	
AGRGDP	-0.0624 (0.312)	0.0244 (0.351)	
INFLATION	-0.0276 (0.148)	0.0016 (0.837)	
TOTAL POPULATION	-2.0432 (0.069)	-5.7802 (0.001) ***	
HUMAN CAPITAL INDEX	0.0821 (0.915)	-0.0654 (0.842)	
GOVERNMENT CONSUMPTION EXPENDITURE	0.0248 (0.870)	-0.0151 (0.814)	
ECONOMIC FREEDOM INDEX	0.1040 (0.331)	0.0808 (0.085)	
Adjusted R ²	0.75	0.99	

Table 2. Regression result of trade openness and employment in Nigeria with control variables

Note. *** and ** denote significance at 1% and 5%, respectively

In Table 2, the four control variables were included in the baseline model using a linear-linear functional form. The control variables include human capital development, total population, government consumption expenditure, and economic freedom index. Trade openness does not significantly impact aggregate employment in Nigeria as shown in the second column. Thus, the study rejects the first hypothesis that trade openness has a positive effect on aggregate employment in Nigeria. Also, the Agriculture share of the GDP does not significantly affect the employment rate within the period. Again, this study rejects the fifth hypothesis that agricultural output has a positive effect on aggregate employment in Nigeria. However, a unit increase in FDI increased employment by one unit. Therefore, I do not reject the third hypothesis that FDI has a positive effect on aggregate employment in Nigeria. The human capital index, proxied as secondary school enrolment, does not significantly improve employment. Similarly, population growth, government consumption expenditure, and the economic freedom index do not significantly affect employment. Compared to the aggregate employment model in table 1, the R² value in table 2 is higher. This shows that the independent variables in this model are responsible for 75 percent of Nigeria's aggregate employment variations.

Furthermore, in Table 2, the third column shows the effects of the inclusion of control variables on the agricultural sector employment. The control variables include human capital development, population growth, government consumption expenditure, and economic freedom. Trade openness, foreign direct investments, and total population significantly affect employment in the Nigerian agricultural sector. Again, foreign direct investments in Nigeria showed an inverse relationship with employment in the agricultural sector. This is evident and consistent in both models. A unit increase in FDI decreased employment in the sector by 0.4 units. This is not in tandem with the fourth hypothesis. Hence, the study rejects the fourth hypothesis that FDI has a positive effect on employment in the Nigerian agricultural sector. The agricultural share of the GDP does not significantly affect employment in the sector in this model. On the other hand, a unit increase in trade openness increased employment in the agricultural sector by two percent. This implies that trade openness is beneficial to agricultural sector employment. Thus, I do not reject the second hypothesis that trade openness has a positive effect on employment in the agricultural sector. In addition, a unit increase in the total population decreased employment in the agricultural sector. This suggests that Nigeria's teeming population may be agriculture averse. This is confirmed by the correlation matrix, which shows a significant and robust negative correlation between agricultural employment and total population between 1991 and 2020.

With respect to the research objectives, the control variables do not significantly moderate the effect of trade on aggregate employment since none of them was significant at five percent significance level. However, in table 2, the total population is a significant predictor of trade effects on employment in the Nigerian agricultural sector.

Summarily, the results in table 2 show that the impact of trade liberalization on aggregate employment and agricultural sector employment differs. Trade openness significantly impacts the agricultural sector employment while it has no significant effect on aggregate employment. Also, FDI had contrasting effects on aggregate and agricultural sector employment in Nigeria. The possible reasons for these variations are identified and policy recommendations were made in the next section.

5.2 Discussion

5.2.1 Foreign Direct Investment and Employment in Nigeria

Folawewo and Adeboje (2017) asserted that the employment effect of FDI depends on the type of FDI, the nature of the sector in which the FDI is directed, and the state of the production technology available in the sector. FDI has been broadly categorized into Greenfield and Brownfield investments in the literature. Greenfield is a type of FDI where the investors build from ground up while Brownfield is one where the existing facilities is purchased or leased. The latter is sometimes called Mergers and Acquisition (M&As). Jeppesen and Mainguy (2007) and Strat et al., (2015) argued that while Greenfield investments have positive effects on employment, Brownfield investments have negative or no effect at all on employment. The regression result in table 2 showed that the impact of FDI on aggregate employment and agricultural sector employment differs. The effect of foreign direct investment on overall employment is positive. Therefore, increasing the inflow of investment into the country will improve overall employment in Nigeria. The study also confirmed the finding of Fosu (2019) that FDI is highly needed in Sub-Saharan African countries because capital in such countries is inadequate. Since the correlation results also showed that economic freedom drives FDI in Nigeria, efforts to make the economy attractive to investors like property rights, freedom of trade, investment freedom, infrastructure, and monetary

freedom should be put in place as argued by Abor & Harvey (2008). This agrees with the recommendations of Ikeonu (2019) and Alex (2021) that improved property rights and protection will encourage investment and drive employment in Nigeria. It also means that capital flights of FDI and MNCs may further worsen employment in the country (Idris, 2020). Since FDI improved aggregate employment in Nigeria, the study suggests that the FDI inflow to Nigeria may be mostly natural resource-seeking or market-seeking. Agarwal (1997) asserted that, unlike efficiency-seeking FDI, natural resource-seeking and market-seeking FDI improve employment in host countries. Overall, the study confirms the existence of the FDI spillover theory (contagion effect) in Nigeria as posited by Baltabaev (2014).

On the other hand, FDI inflow to Nigeria reduced employment in the agricultural sector. This is in tandem with the study of Matsuyama (1992) and Said and Elshennawy (2010) that while trade may improve the overall welfare in a country, certain sectors may suffer. This occurrence is called Dutch Disease. That is, a situation where improvement in a sector of the economy is at the expense of another sector(s). The opposite effect of FDI on aggregate and agricultural sector employment could mean that FDI inflow improved labor productivity in other sectors and not in the agricultural sector. The negative impact of FDI on employment in the Nigerian agricultural sector is possibly because farming activities in Nigeria is still mainly labor-intensive such that employment improves in sectors that could absorb the foreign direct investments and decreases in the agricultural sector. This is in consonance with the findings of Yanikkaya (2013) that trade has not been beneficial to employment in the labor-intensive sectors of developing countries. Therefore, this study confirms the existence of Dutch Disease in Nigeria and justifies the necessity of more sectoral impact analyses. As such, the inflow of FDI is not just enough. Agriculture promoting FDIs must be intentionally encouraged also. Jeppesen and Mainguy (2007) found that most FDI inflows into

most African countries are Brownfield investments which have no or negative impacts on employment. Thus, extra efforts will be needed to improve employment in the Nigerian agricultural sector. The study also confirms that FDI can be sector sensitive, and we have evidence that agricultural sector employment has experienced FDI crowding out effect (de Mello Jr, 1997; Agosin & Machado, 2005). The employment loss in the agricultural sector must have been compensated for in other sectors for FDI to simultaneously have a positive effect on aggregate employment within the period studied.

5.2.2 Protectionism in the Nigerian Agricultural Sector and Inclusiveness

This study contributes to the argument about protectionism in the agricultural sector. Our result shows that employment in the sector increases as trade openness increases. That is, trade liberalization is beneficial to agricultural sector employment in Nigeria. This implies that protectionism (or other forms of government interventionism) may be counterintuitive in this sector. This is in consonance with the stance of the Austrian School of economics and the new classical economics, which advocates for less government intervention. They argue that market forces are enough to resolve unemployment in an economy (Fosu, 2019). Although Yanikkaya (2013) found that higher trade volumes have not improved employment in most developing countries, the positive impact of trade openness on employment in the agricultural sector could be because Nigeria is a major exporter of agricultural products like cocoa and oil seeds and has a comparative advantage in exporting agricultural products. By extension, policies that restrict trade, such as border closure, and unavailability of foreign exchange (forex), are detrimental to employment in the agricultural sector. Increased investment in the sector, improved road network, and subsidized inputs for farmers will improve agricultural production and then, consequently,

employment in the sector. The correlation results also validated this positive relationship between agriculture's share of GDP and employment in the agriculture sector as seen in Appendix 2B.

Lastly, contrary to popular belief, the study shows that agricultural contribution to GDP is no more the driver of aggregate employment in Nigeria. This is validated by statistics (Statista, NBS), indicating that Nigeria's service sector currently contributes more to the GDP and overall employment. This stance is also supported by the correlation and regressions results that show that although the agricultural share of the GDP improves employment in the agricultural sector, it does not significantly affect aggregate employment in Nigeria.

5.2.3 Nigerian economy and its trade performance

The impacts of variables can only best be evaluated in the context of an individual country's unique conditions (Bloom & Freeman, 1986). The study shows that trade openness does not significantly improve aggregate employment in Nigeria. The result bolsters the findings of Yanikkaya (2013) that increased trade volume has not successfully generated jobs in developing countries. The author argued that current trading policies emphasize trade liberalization at the expense of poverty reduction, human development, and increased output. Therefore, it is unable to achieve sustainable employment growth. Also, since trade openness is a measure of trade volume, that is, import, export, and GDP, factors that impede market processes and production must be addressed for trade openness to have meaningful employment impacts. For example, the protection of property rights, that is, autonomous ownership and control of alienable resources is germane to increased production. This has been argued by Alex (2021) who opined that the absence of property right has been a major concern for investors in Nigeria. Akin to this is reduced government intervention in market prices. The new classical and Austrian economics school of thoughts believe that market

forces in themselves are adequate to correct unemployment (Fosu, 2019). Thus, prices which are outcomes of unimpeded market processes are prerequisites to increased production and output. In addition, transaction costs must be reduced for investors for production to be encouraged. Epileptic power supply, bureaucratic bottleneck, poor road network, and unavailability of foreign exchange (forex) are some factors that have increased transaction costs for businesses in Nigeria. For instance, Orimolade and Olusola (2018) asserted that epileptic power supply in Nigeria has been responsible for increased capital flight of Multinational Corporations in Nigeria (MNCs). Other factors that can promote output and consequently economic prosperity are freedom of contract which allows freedom of exchange of privately owned resources and the existence of dependable rule of law. Thus, Abor and Harvey (2008) maintained that creating enabling legal environment in form of institutions that protect people, businesses and their property is an important requirement for investment and consequently increased production and output.

Against the a priori expectation, agriculture's share of GDP does not improve aggregate employment in Nigeria although it has positive impact of the agricultural sector employment (in table 1). This could be because despite all the effort to diversify the Nigerian economy, the share of agriculture in Nigeria's export remains significantly small. In 2019, agriculture accounted for less than 2 percent of total exports in Nigeria compared to crude oil which accounted for 76.5 percent. Also, between 2018 and 2019, agricultural export declined by 11 percent while agricultural import increased by 12.7 percent during the same period. The latter being Nigeria's highest recorded agricultural import value (Oyaniyan, 2020). All these indicate that the agricultural sector in Nigeria has not been sufficiently triggered and hence its limited impact on aggregate employment in the country.

Contrary to the popular Phillip's curve theory, the study, unlike Raifu (2017) and Onifade et al. (2020) shows that inflation does not improve employment in Nigeria. The high inflation rate in the country could be blamed because Darku and Yeboah (2018) affirm that only a moderate level of inflation can be beneficial. Thus, the study agrees with Orji et al. (2015) that the Phillips curve hypothesis does not hold in Nigeria.

Total population has no significant impact on aggregate employment in Nigeria. This suggests that the increasing population in Nigeria (as seen in the descriptive statistics table in the appendix section) has no effect on the employment situation within the year under study. Thus, the increasing population in Nigeria may not be a menace but can be productively engaged to promote production. Bloom and Freeman (1986) argue that increased population can trigger technological development, economies of scale, and thus employment. On the other hand, total population showed a negative relationship with agricultural sector employment in Nigeria. The implication is that the increasing population in Nigeria are not engaged in the agricultural sector. This could be because the sector is labor-intensive. The human capital index proxied by the level of education has improved over time in Nigeria (as seen in the descriptive statistics table and correlation matrix table in the appendix) and this could make the labor force seek white-collar jobs in other sectors unlike the labor-intensive opportunities in the agricultural sector. Also, the economic freedom index had no impact on employment in Nigeria. This could be because of the nature of the data which comprises of about 12 indicators lumped together.

5.2 Post-estimation results

The study used the Akaike information and Bayesian information criterion tests to choose the best models. Also, multicollinearity test was carried out, especially because of the low adjusted

 R^2 value of the aggregate employment baseline model. The Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) confirmed that multicollinearity is absent in all the models. Durbin-Watson d-statistics results also showed that there was no autocorrelation. Finally, Breusch-Godfrey LM test for autocorrelation also confirmed the absence of serial correlation.

This study provides some policy recommendations in the next chapter that may improve the employment contribution of the agricultural sector.

CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1 Conclusion and recommendations

In this last chapter, the study is concluded, and recommendations proffered accordingly.

Unemployment has been a menace in most African countries, especially Nigeria. The stance of

classical trade theories and international trade institutions is that trade will improve employment. However, despite the country's outward trade orientation and enormous economic potential, the unemployment rate has consistently increased over the years. Thus, the study investigated the impact of trade liberalization on employment using data between 1991-2020.

Using the multiple linear regression technique, the study found that the FDI inflow has been detrimental to employment in the agricultural sector, but it has been beneficial to aggregate employment. This implies that the net employment effect of FDI is positive because the loss in the agricultural sector was compensated for by gains in other sectors within the economy. The study opines that the negative effect of FDI on agricultural sector employment could be because the sector is labor-intensive while most FDIs are capital-intensive. The study also found that trade openness improved employment in the agricultural sector. This weakens the argument for protectionism in the sector. This corroborates the claims of the Heckscher-Ohlin model that the abundant factor benefits from trade openness. However, trade openness does not significantly affect aggregate employment in Nigeria. Since trade openness is a measure of trade volumes, protection of private property, limited government interference in market processes, freedom of contract and conducive legal environment are germane for the dividends of trade liberalization to be reaped in the country. Finally, the agricultural share of the GDP showed a positive relationship with the agricultural sector employment.

Based on the findings, the following policy recommendations may improve employment in Nigeria. It is recommended that the government create a favorable economic and legal environment to encourage investors since FDI improved aggregate employment in the country. Good road networks, stable power supply, protection of property rights, reduced business tax,

etc. are possible incentives to foreign investors. In addition, the government should ensure policies that will promote macroeconomic stability within the economy. To improve employment in the agricultural sector, foreign direct investments that will engage the abundant labor and encourage participation in the agricultural sector must be encouraged. This is in consonance with the recommendations of Yanikkaya (2013) and Anyanwu (2013). Otherwise, employment in the sector may continue to decrease. This can be made possible if there is inflow of agriculture promoting FDIs into the sector.

Since agriculture's share of GDP improved the agricultural sector employment, it is intuitive to recommend that policies that will increase output in this sector be put in place. This includes making inputs available and affordable through subsidies, encouraging mechanization, and providing extension services that would reduce incidences of pest and disease outbreaks which reduce agricultural outputs.

In conclusion, trade openness also improved the agricultural sector employment, therefore this study has provided evidence that protectionism policies should be discouraged in Nigeria's agricultural sector. Trade and exchange should be promoted in the sector and as argued by the new classical and Austrian economics school of thoughts, the forces of demand and supply are adequate to control unemployment, independent of the unbridled government interventionism.

6.2 Limitations and recommendations for future research

The major challenge encountered in this study has to do with data. There were a lot of missing data prior to 1991 otherwise the study would have considered 1981 to date. Also, the data were inconsistent across the board. For instance, while NBS, Nigeria puts the year 2020 unemployment rate in the country at 33.3 percent, World Bank data says it is 9.71 percent.

51

The study compared only the agricultural sector and the aggregate employment. Future studies may want to consider the other sectors of the economy. In addition, some of the control variables like population, government consumption expenditure, and economic freedom show positive relationships in the correlation matrix, as such further studies can be developed around them.

Furthermore, the study considered the impact of trade liberalization on employment in Nigeria, future studies may consider the determinants of unemployment in Nigeria where predictors like private property rights, rule of law, trade freedom, freedom of contract, etc which were identified in this study as probable causes of unemployment in Nigeria can be studied in depth.

REFERENCES

Abor, J., & Harvey, S. K. (2008). Foreign direct investment and employment: host country experience. *Macroeconomics and finance in emerging market economies*, *1*(2), 213-225.

ADB. 2011. Framework of inclusive growth indicators, Asian Development Bank. RPT113837. Available at:

https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/index.php?page=view&type=400&nr=739&menu=1515

Adejumo, O. O., Asongu, S. A., & Adejumo, A. V. (2021). Education enrolment rate vs employment rate: Implications for sustainable human capital development in Nigeria. *International Journal of Educational Development*, *83*, 102385.

Agarwal, J. P. (1997). Effect of foreign direct investment on employment in home countries. *Transnational corporations*, *6*, 1-28.

Agosin, M. R., & Machado, R. (2005). Foreign investment in developing countries: does it crowd in domestic investment? *Oxford Development Studies*, *33*(2), 149-162.

Agu, M.N. (2013). Need to empower Nigeria children and youths through information technology. International Journal of Soft Computing and Engineering, 2(6): 61-64.

Akinyemi, K., Ebiefie, V., Adekojo, T. A., & Ibiyemi, I. A. (2014). Trade liberalization and employment generation in Nigeria. *International Journal of Innovation and Scientific Research*, *10*(1), 118-124.

Akims, K. A. (2014). The prospects of ECOWAS trade liberalization in Nigeria. *African Research Review*, 8(3), 38-47.

Akuru, U. B., & Okoro, O. I. (2011). A prediction on Nigeria's oil depletion based on Hubbert's model and the need for renewable energy. *International Scholarly Research Notices*, 2011.

Alex, T. (2021). It Belongs to Me! A Libertarian Analysis of Property Rights in Nigeria. *Journal of Libertarian Studies*, 24(2), 24272.

Ali, T. M., Kiani, A., & Hafeez, M. (2018). Impact of trade liberalization on employment, poverty reduction and economic development. *Pakistan Economic Review*.

Andriamananjara, S., Brenton, P., Von Uexkull, J. E., & Walkenhorst, P. (2009). Assessing the economic impacts of an economic partnership agreement on Nigeria. The World Bank.

Anyanwu, J. C. (2013). Characteristics and macroeconomic determinants of youth employment in Africa. *African Development Review*, 25(2), 107-129.

Auta, S. J., & Dafwang, I. I. (2010). The agricultural development projects (ADPs) in Nigeria: Status and policy implications. *Research Journal of Agriculture and Biological Sciences*, 6(2), 138-143.

Ayinde, J.O., Olarewaju, B.E. and Aribifo, D.L. (2016), "Perception of youths on government agricultural development programmes in Osun State, Nigeria", Scientific Papers Series Management, Economic Engineering in Agriculture and Rural Development, Vol. 16 No. 3, pp. 67-76.

Azman-Saini, W. N. W., & Law, S. H. (2010). FDI and economic growth: New evidence on the role of financial markets. *Economics letters*, *107*(2), 211-213.

Azman-Saini, W. N. W., Baharumshah, A. Z., & Law, S. H. (2010). Foreign direct investment, economic freedom and economic growth: International evidence. *Economic Modelling*, 27(5), 1079-1089.

Babatunde, M. A. (2006)."Trade Policy Reform in Regional Integration and Export Performance in the ECOWAS Sub-region:, http://www.gtap.agecon.purdue.edu/resource

Babatunde, M. A., Oyeranti, O. A., Bankole, A. S., & Ogunkola, E. O. (2012). Exports trade, employment, and poverty reduction in Nigeria. *International journal of social economics*.

Balogun, E. D., & Dauda, R. O. (2012). Poverty and employment impact of trade liberalization in Nigeria: empirical evidence and policy implications.

Baltabaev, B. (2014). Foreign direct investment and total factor productivity growth: New macro-evidence. *The World Economy*, *37*(2), 311-334.

Bhagwati, J. (1958). Immiserizing growth: A geometrical note. *The Review of Economic Studies*, 25(3), 201-205.

Bloom, D. E., & Freeman, R. B. (1986). The effects of rapid population growth on labor supply and employment in developing countries. *Population and Development Review*, 381-414.

Central Bank of Nigeria (CBN) Annual Reports for Various Years, Nigeria. http://www.cenbank.org/Documents/annualreports.asp

Chang, R., Kaltani, L., & Loayza, N. V. (2009). Openness can be good for growth: The role of policy complementarities. *Journal of development economics*, *90*(1), 33-49.

Chang, C. 2014. What is "inclusive growth"? CAFOD Discussion paper. March 2014 Available at: www.cafod. org.uk/content.../inclusive%20growth%20full%20paper.pd

Cho, D. S., Moon, H. C., & Kim, M. Y. (2008). Characterizing international competitiveness in international business research: A MASI approach to national competitiveness. *Research in International Business and Finance*, *22*(2), 175-192.

Darku, A. B., & Yeboah, R. (2018). Economic openness and income growth in developing countries: a regional comparative analysis. *Applied Economics*, 50(8), 855-869.

De Mello Jr, L. R. (1997). Foreign direct investment in developing countries and growth: A selective survey. *The journal of development studies*, *34*(1), 1-34.

Dollar D. and Kraay (2001) 'Growth is Good for the Poor, Washington DC. World Bank Policy Research Working Papers No. 2587

Dollar, D., & Kraay, A. (2004). Trade, growth, and poverty. *The economic journal*, *114*(493), F22-F49.

Dutt, P., Mitra, D., & Ranjan, P. (2009). International trade and unemployment: Theory and cross-national evidence. *Journal of International Economics*, 78(1), 32-44.

Edwards, S. (1993), 'Openness, Trade Liberalization and Growth in Developing Countries: Journal of Economic Literature, XXX1, pp.1358-93

Edwards, S. (1998). Openness, productivity and growth: what do we really know?. *The economic journal*, *108*(447), 383-398.

Effoduh, O. (nd). The Economic Development of Nigeria from 1914 to 2014. Available at: https://www.academia.edu/4036100/The_Economic_Development_of_Nigeria_from_1914_to_2 014 (accessed January, 2021).

Ekesiobi, C. S., Ifebi, O. E., Ibekilo, B. C., & Onochie, J. D. (2011). Dynamics of Foreign Trade and Trade Relation Problems: Policy Options for Nigeria. African Research Review, 5(1).

Evbuomwan, G. O. (1997). Poverty Alleviation through Agricultural Projects: A Review of the Concept of the World Bank Assisted Agricultural Development Projects.

Fatukasi, B. (2011), "Determinants of inflation in Nigeria: an empirical analysis", International Journal of Humanity and Social Sciences, Vol. 1 No. 18, pp. 262-271.

Felbermayr, G., Prat, J., & Schmerer, H. J. (2011). Trade and unemployment: What do the data say? *European Economic Review*, 55(6), 741-758.

Folawewo, A. O., & Adeboje, O. M. (2017). Macroeconomic determinants of unemployment: Empirical evidence from economic community of West African states. *African Development Review*, 29(2), 197-210.

Fosu, G. A. (2019). Government Expenditure and Unemployment: Empirical Investigation of Sub-Saharan African (SSA) Countries.

Fouladi, M. (2010). The impact of government expenditure on GDP, employment, and private investment a CGE model approach. *Iranian economic review*, *15*(27), 53-76.

Frankel, A. J., and D. Romer (1999). 'Does Trade Cause Growth: The American Economic Review, 89, pp.379-99

Gardner, B. 1992. Changing Economic Perspectives on the Farm Problem. Journal of Economic Literature Vol XXX (March): 62-101

Grossman, G., & Helpman, E. (1991). Innovation and growth in the global economy Cambridge. *Mass. and London*.

Hasan, R., Mitra, D., Ranjan, P., & Ahsan, R. N. (2012). Trade liberalization and unemployment: Theory and evidence from India. *Journal of Development Economics*, 97(2), 269-280.

Haouas, I., Yagoubi, M., & Heshmati, A. (2005). The impacts of trade liberalization on employment and wages in Tunisian industries. *Journal of International Development: The Journal of the Development Studies Association*, 17(4), 527-551.

Harris, R. & Silverstone, B. (2001). Testing for Asymmetry in Okun's Law: A Cross-Country Comparison. Economics Bulletin, 5, 1-13.

Helpman, E., & Itskhoki, O. (2010). Labour market rigidities, trade, and unemployment. *The Review of Economic Studies*, 77(3), 1100-1137.

Herzer, D. (2012). How does foreign direct investment really affect developing countries' growth? *Review of International Economics*, 20(2), 396-414.

Idris, M. (2020). Capital flight, corruption, and unemployment rate in Nigeria: an analytical review of economic performance.

Ikeonu, K (2019)- https://mises.org/wire/want-more-investment-and-entrepreneurship-protectprivate-property%22 Accessed on April 15, 2022

Iledare, W., & Suberu, R. (2010, March). Framework Paper I Oil and Gas Resources in the Federal Republic of Nigeria. In *Conference on Oil and Gas In Federal Systems* (Vol. 1, pp. 336929-1266445624608).

ILO (2013), Global Employment Trends 2013: Recovering from a Second Jobs Dip, International Labour Office, International Labour Organization, Geneva.

ILO (2020), Newsroom, available at http://www.ilo.org/global/about-the-ilo/newsroom/news/WCMS_734454/lang-en/index.htm

Izuchukwu, O. O. (2011). Analysis of the contribution of agricultural sector on the Nigerian economic development. *World review of business research*, 1(1), 191-200.

Jeppesen, S., & Mainguy, C. (2007). Foreign Direct Investment in Africa. Searching for Impact in Mali and South Africa (No. 6). CBDS Working Paper.

Kalu, E. U. (2021). Economic growth and unemployment linkage in a developing economy: a gender and age classification perspective. *Problems and Perspectives in Management*, 18(4), 527.

Kalu, U. D., & Agodi, J. E. (2015). Does trade openness make sense? Investigation of Nigeria trade policy. *International Journal of Academic Research in Economics and Management Sciences*, 4(1), 6-21.

Kamer, L. (2022)- https://www.statista.com/statistics/1120999/gdp-of-african-countries-by-country/ accessed on April 15, 2022.

Kanu, B. S., Salami, A. O., & Numasawa, K. (2014). Inclusive growth: an imperative for African agriculture. *African Journal of Food, Agriculture, Nutrition and Development, 14*(3), A33-A33.

Kareem, O. I. (2010). Trade Liberalization and Employment in Nigeria. *Marginality and Crisis: Globalization and Identity in Contemporary Africa*, 149.

Kazeem, Y (2020): <u>https://qz.com/africa/1892237/nigerias-unemployment-rate-tripled-in-five-years#:~:text=With%20a%20labor%20force%20of%2080.2%20million%2C%20that,unemploy ment%20rate%20currently%20stands%20even%20higher%2C%20at%2030.7%25</u> Accessed on April 15, 2022

Kim, J. (2011). The effects of trade on unemployment: evidence from 20 OECD countries. *Stockholm University, Department of Economics Research Papers in Economics, 19.*

Kpognon, K., Ondoa, H. A., & Bah, M. (2020). Trade Openness and Youth Employment in Sub-Saharan Africa. *Journal of Economic Integration*, *35*(4), 751-777.

Krugman, P. (1998). What's new about the new economic geography?. Oxford review of economic policy, 14(2), 7-17.

Loganathan, N., Sukemi, M. N., & Kogid, M. (2011). Dynamic causal relationship between trade balance and unemployment scenario in Malaysia: granger non-causality analysis. *Economics and Finance Review*, 1(3), 13-20.

Macklin, J. (1992). Enough to make you sick: How income and environment affect health. *National Health Strategy, Research Paper*, (1).

Makaringe, S. C., & Khobai, H. (2018). The effect of unemployment on economic growth in South Africa (1994-2016).

Maku, E. O., & Alimi, O. Y. (2018). Fiscal policy tools, employment generation and sustainable development in Nigeria. *Acta Universitatis Danubius. Œconomica*, 14(3).

Matsuyama, K. (1992). Agricultural productivity, comparative advantage, and economic growth. *Journal of economic theory*, *58*(2), 317-334.

McClelland, A., & Macdonald, F. (1998). The social consequences of unemployment. *Report for the Business Council of Australia*.

Meroyi, Y. (2016). Comparative Analysis of Impact of Trade Liberalization on Employment Generation during the Military and Civilian Regimes in Nigeria (1980-2012). *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 6(11), 110-134.

Moon, W., Pino, G., & Asirvatham, J. (2016). Agricultural Protection, Domestic Policies, and International Political Economy: What is the Role of the State in Explaining Agricultural Protection? (No. 333-2016-14424).

Nabine, D. W. (2009). The impact of Chinese investment and trade on Nigeria economic growth. *Africa Trade Policy Centre work in progress*, (77).

NBS (2017a), "Economic growth key indicators", Q3 2017, National Bureau of Statistics, pp. 5-6,

NBS (2017b), "Nigerian Gross Domestic Product Report", Q3 2017, National Bureau of Statistics, pp. 5-6. no. 1: 1–28.

NBS (2021)," Unemployment key indicators", https://nigerianstat.gov.ng/elibrary?queries=labour Newfarmer, R., & Sztajerowska, M. (2012). Trade and employment in a fast-changing world. *Policy priorities for international trade and jobs*, 7-73

Nwaka, I. D., Uma, K. E., & Tuna, G. (2015). Trade openness and unemployment: Empirical evidence for Nigeria. *The Economic and Labour Relations Review*, 26(1), 117-136.

Nwali, C. S., & Arene, C. J. (2015). Effects of economic partnership agreements on agricultural trade between Nigeria and the EU. International Journal of Food and Agricultural Economics (IJFAEC), 3(1128-2016-92078), 63-74.

Ogbonna, B. C. (2012). Structural Adjustment Program (SAP) in Nigeria: An Empirical Assessment. *Journal of Banking*, *6*(1), 19-40.

Okafor, F. C. (2012). Education for employment and self-productivity in Nigeria. *Knowledge Review.* 26 (3), 1-6.

Okun, A.M. (1962) "Potential GNP: Its Measurement and Significance" American Statistical Association Proceedings of the Business and Economic Statistics Section, 98-104

Oloni, E. F. (2013). The impact of economic growth on employment in Nigeria. *International Business and Management*, 6(1), 113-119.

Oloni, E., Asaleye, A., Abiodun, F., & Adeyemi, O. (2017). Inclusive growth, agriculture and employment in Nigeria. *Journal of Environmental Management & Tourism*, 8(1 (17)), 183.

Olukunle, O. T. (2013). Evaluation of income and employment generation from cassava value chain in the Nigerian agricultural sector. *Asian Journal of Agriculture and Rural Development*, *3*(393-2016-23862), 79-92.

Onifade, S. T., Ay, A., Asongu, S., & Bekun, F. V. (2020). Revisiting the trade and unemployment nexus: Empirical evidence from the Nigerian economy. *Journal of Public Affairs*, 20(3), e2053.

Oniore, J. O., Bernard, A. O., & Gyang, E. J. (2015). Macroeconomic determinants of unemployment in Nigeria. *International Journal of Economics, Commerce and Management*, *3*(10), 215-230.

Onogwu, G. O & C. J. Arene (2013). Adjusting Liberalization due to Trade, Revenue, and Welfare Effects: An Economic Partnership Agreement Scenario between Cape Verde and the EU. *Journal of Agriculture and Sustainability*, 3, 87-107.

Orimolade, E. M., & Olusola, A. B. (2018). Capital Flight and the Growth of Nigerian Economy: An Autoregressive Distributed Lag (ARDL) Modeling. *Int J Econ Bus Manag*, 4(2), 1-15.

Orji, A., Anthony-Orji, O. I., & Okafor, J. C. (2015). Inflation and unemployment nexus in Nigeria: Another test of the Phillips curve. *Asian Economic and Financial Review*, *5*(5), 766-778.

Oyaniyan, T. (2020). Current state of Nigeria agriculture and agribusiness sector. PwC Nigeria. In Presentation at the AfCFTA Workshop, available at: https://www.pwc. com/ng/en/assets/pdf/afcfta-agribusiness-current-state-nigeria-agriculture-sector. pdf.

Panagariya, A. (2002). EU preferential Trade Agreement and Developing Countries. *World Economy*, 25(10), 1415-32.

Phillips, A.W. 1958. The relation between unemployment and the rate of change of money wage rates in the United Kingdom, 1861-1957. Economica 25:283-299.

Raquel, F., & Portes, J. (1998). Returns to Regionalism: An Analysis of Nontraditional Gains from Regional Trade Agreements. World Bank Economic Review, 12(2), 197-220.

Raifu, I. A. (2017). On the determinants of unemployment In Nigeria: what are the roles of trade openness and current account balance? *Review of Innovation and Competitiveness: A Journal of Economic and Social Research*, 3(4), 5-30.

Rodrick, D. (1998) Trade Policy and Economic Performance in Sub Saharan Africa. Paper prepared for the Swedish Ministry of Foreign Policy. NBER.

Rodrik, D., & Rodriguez, F. (2000). Trade policy and economic growth: A skeptic's guide to cross-national evidence. National Bureau of Economic Research.

Rodrik, D. (2018). What do trade agreements really do? *Journal of economic perspectives*, *32*(2), 73-90.

Sahoo, P. (2009). Employment intensity of government expenditure. *The Indian Economic Journal*, *57*(2), 63-78.

Said, M., & Elshennawy, A. (2010). The impact of trade liberalization on manufacturing employment and wages in Egypt 1990-2007.

Samans, R., Blanke, J., Corrigan, G., & Drzeniek, M. (2015, September). The inclusive growth and development report 2015. In *Geneva: World Economic Forum* (Vol. 13).

Sasu, D. (2022)- https://www.statista.com/topics/6729/agriculture-in-nigeria/ accessed on April 15, 2022

Şener, F. (2001). Schumpeterian unemployment, trade, and wages. *Journal of International Economics*, *54*(1), 119-148.

Sipahutar, M. A. (2016). Effects of credit on economic growth, unemployment, and poverty. *Jurnal Ekonomi Pembangunan: Kajian Masalah Ekonomi Dan Pembangunan*, *17*(1), 37-49.

Smith, A. (1776). An Inquiry into the Nature and Causes of the Wealth of Nations. www. bibliomania.com/Nonfiction/smith/wealth/Index.html.

Smith, R. (1987). *Unemployment and health: a disaster and a challenge*. Oxford University Press.

Standing, G. (1983), "The notion of structural unemployment", International Labour Review, Vol. 22 No. 2, pp. 137-153.

Statista. (2021). Nigeria: Agriculture contribution to GDP 2019-2021. https://www.statista.com/statistics/1193506/contribution-of-agriculture-to-gdp-in-nigeria/ accessed on April 15, 2022

Strat, V. A., Davidescu, A., & Paul, A. M. (2015). FDI and the unemployment-a causality analysis for the latest EU members. *Procedia economics and finance*, *23*, 635-643.

Tartiyus, E. H., Dauda, T. M., & Peter, A. (2015). Impact of population growth on economic growth in Nigeria. *IOSR Journal of Humanities and Social Science (IOSRJHSS)*, 20(4), 115-123.

Ugwu, D. S., & Kanu, I. O. (2012). Effects of agricultural reforms on the agricultural sector in Nigeria. *Journal of African Studies and Development*, 4(2), 51-59.

Urata, S., & Okabe, M. (2010). The impacts of free trade agreements on trade flows: An application of the gravity model approach. Free Trade Agreements in the Asia Pacific, 11, 195.

Van Berkum, S., & van Meijl, H. (1998). A survey of trade theories (No. 161). LEI-DLO.

Wang, M. (2009). Manufacturing FDI and economic growth: evidence from Asian economies. *Applied Economics*, 41(8), 991-1002.

Weisbrot, M., & Baker, D. (2002) The Relative Impact of Trade Liberalization on Developing Countries. Centre for Economic and Policy Research, Washington, D.C.

White, M. (1991). Against unemployment (Vol. 686). Policy Studies Institute.

Wilkinson, F. (2000). Inflation and employment: is there a third way? *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, 24(6), 643-670.

Wilson, G. W. (1960). The relationship between output and employment. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 37-43.

Winters, L. A. (2004). Trade liberalisation and economic performance: an overview. *The economic journal*, *114*(493), F4-F21.

Winters, L.A., McCulloch, N. and McKay, A. (2004), "Trade liberalisation and poverty: the evidence so far", Journal of Economic Literature, Vol. 42, pp. 72-115.

Wood, A. (1994), North-South Trade, Employment and Inequality: Changing Fortunes in a Skill-Driven World, New York, Oxford University Press.

Wood, A (1997), "Openness and wage inequality in developing countries: the Latin American challenge to East Asian conventional wisdom, World Bank Economic Review, 1, 33-57.

World Bank, World Development Indicators. (2022) Employment in Agriculture (% of total employment) (modeled ILO estimate) [Data file]. Retrieved from https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL.AGR.EMPL.ZS?end=2018&locations=NG&name_desc =true&start=1991&view=char

Yakubu, M. M., & Akanegbu, B. N. (2015). The impact of international trade on economic growth in Nigeria: 1981–2012. *European Journal of Business, Economics and Accountancy*, 3(6), 26-36.

Yanikkaya, H. (2013). Is trade liberalization a solution to the unemployment problem? *Portuguese Economic Journal*, *12*(1), 57-85.

Young, A. (1991). Learning by doing and the dynamic effects of international trade. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *106*(2), 369-405.
APPENDIX

Appendix 1A: Descriptive statistics

Descriptive statistics						
VARIABLE	Ν	Range	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation
AGR EMPL	30	16.91	33.66	50.57	43.82967	5.666248742
TOTAL EMPL	30	6.014	90.286	96.3	95.2925	1.737452229
TRADE OPENNESS	30	0.616012	0.121232	0.737245	0.378369	0.134215347
FDI NET INFLOW	30	8.54E+09	3E+08	8.84E+09	3.29E+09	2630430920
INFLATION CPI	30	67.44749	5.388008	72.8355	18.35389	16.83810668
AGR GDP	30	16.97483	19.99025	36.96508	24.42434	3.856622391
POPULATION	30	1.08E+08	97667632	2.06E+08	1.45E+08	32949909.13
ECONOMIC FREEDOM	26	11.2	47.3	58.5	53.581	3.556
GOVT CONSUMPTION	30	8.537105	0.911235	9.44834	4.540054	3.05276672
HUMAN CAPITAL	30	9699380	3123277	12822657	6596240	2910181.994

Appendix 2A: Pearson correlation matrix for aggregate employment

VARIABLE		EMPLWB	T.OPEN	FDI	INFLA	AGDP	POP	E.FREE	GCE	HC
EMPLWB	Coef	1								_
	Sig.									
TRADE OP	Coef	0.282	1							
	Sig.	0.131								
FDI	Coef	0.115	0.164	1						
	Sig.	0.545	0.388							
INFLATION	Coef	0.121	0.206	-0.36	1					
	Sig.	0.523	0.274	0.05						
AGR GDP	Coef	0.304	-0.029	-0.19	0.001	1				
	Sig.	0.102	0.878	0.32	0.996					
					-					
POP	Coef	693**	-0.277	.491**	.494**	367*	1			
	Sig.	<.001	0.139	0.01	0.006	0.046				
						-				
ECO FREE	Coef	527**	0.006	.421*	489*	.544**	.763**	1		
	Sig.	0.006	0.978	0.03	0.011	0.004	<.001			
GCE	Coef	-0.2	0.024	.856**	417*	-0.349	.711**	.622**	1	
	Sig.	0.301	0.898	<.001	0.022	0.059	<.001	<.001		
HUMAN										
CAP	Coef	785**	-0.279	0.25	-0.33	367*	.929**	.586**	.517**	1
	Sig.	<.001	0.135	0.18	0.075	0.046	<.001	0	0	

Appendix 2A. Pearson correlation matrix for aggregate employment

Note. ** and * denote significance at 1% and 5% at 2-tailed, respectively

Ap	pendix 21	B: Pearson	correlation	matrix f	or aggregate	employment
					00 0	

			6	7						
		A.								
VARIABLE		EMP	T.OPEN	FDI	INFLA	AGDP	POP	E.FREE	GCE	HC
AGR EMP	Coef	1								
	Sig.									
TRADE OP	Coef	0.256	1							
	Sig.	0.172								
FDI	Coef	516**	0.164	1						
	Sig.	0.004	0.388							
INFLATION	Coef	.464**	0.206	-0.36	1					
	Sig.	0.01	0.274	0.05						
AGR GDP	Coef	.414*	-0.029	-0.19	0.001	1				
	Sig.	0.023	0.878	0.32	0.996					

Appendix 2B. Pearson correlation matrix for agricultural sector employment

POP	Coef	994**	-0.277	.491**	494**	367*	1			
	Sig.	<.001	0.139	0.01	0.006	0.046				
ECO FREE	Coef	749**	0.006	.421*	489*	544**	.763**	1		
	Sig.	<.001	0.978	0.03	0.011	0.004	<.001			
GCE	Coef	732**	0.024	.856**	417*	-0.349	.711**	.622**	1	
	Sig.	<.001	0.898	<.001	0.022	0.059	<.001	<.001		
HUMAN										
CAP	Coef	927**	-0.279	0.25	-0.33	367*	.929**	.586**	.517**	1
	Sig.	<.001	0.135	0.18	0.075	0.046	<.001	0	0	

Note. ** and * denote significance at 1% and 5% at 2-tailed, respectively

Appendix 3A: Unit root test for aggregate employment model (ADF)

Appendix :	3A.	Unit root te	st (A	ugmented	Dickev	Fuller)
p p •		0	~ (- Building of		

	Augmented Dickey Fuller (ADF)					
Variable	Level (P-value)	First Difference (P-value)	Conclusion			
TEMP	-2.240(0.1922)	-5.382(0.0000)***	I(1)			
FDI	-2.059(0.2612)	-1.475(0.5458)	Not stationary			
TRADE OPENNESS	-2.130(0.2326)	-5.091(0.0000)***	I(1)			
AGRGDP	-1.125(0.7051)	-2.814(0.0563)	Not stationary			
INFLATION	-10.734(0.0000)***	-5.032(0.0000)***	I(0) I(1)			
POP	3.808(1.000)	-0.356(0.9172)	I(0) Not significant			
HCI	0.600(0.9876)	-1.919(0.3231)	Not stationary			
GCE	-1.343(0.6093)	-1.985(0.2932)	Not stationary			
EF	-0.440(0.9032)	-1.968(0.3008)	Not stationary			

Note. *** and ** denote significance at 1% and 5%, respectively

Appendix 3B: Unit root test for agricultural sector employment model (ADF)

	Augmented Dickey Fuller (ADF)					
Variable	Level (P-value)	First Difference (P-value)	Conclusion			
AEMP	2.325(0.9990)	-1.082(0.7221)	Not stationary			
FDI	-2.059(0.2612)	-1.475(0.5458)	Not stationary			
TRADE OPENNESS	-2.130(0.2326)	-5.091(0.0000)***	l(1)			
AGRGDP	-1.125(0.7051)	-2.814(0.0563)	Not stationary			
INFLATION	-10.734(0.0000)***	-5.032(0.0000)***	I(0) I(1)			
POP	3.808(1.000)	-0.356(0.9172)	I(0) Not significant			
HCI	0.600(0.9876)	-1.919(0.3231)	Not stationary			
GCE	-1.343(0.6093)	-1.985(0.2932)	Not stationary			
EF	-0.440(0.9032)	-1.968(0.3008)	Not stationary			

Appendix 3B. Unit root test (Augmented Dickey Fuller)

Note. *** and ** denote significance at 1% and 5%, respectively

Ap	pendix 4A:	Johansen	Cointegration	Test for th	e aggregate	employment	model

	Trace Sta	tistics K=1	Maximum Eigen Values K=1		
Maximum Rank	λ (trace)	5 % critical values	λ (Max)	5% critical values	
0	-	192.89	-	57.12	
1	-	156	-	51.42	
2	-	124.24	829.004	45.28	
3	-	94.15	756.393	39.37	
4	-	68.52	0	33.46	
5	-	47.21	0	27.07	
6	-	29.68	0	20.97	
7	-	15.41	0	14.07	
8	-	3.76	0	3.76	
9	-	-	-	-	

Ar	mendix	4A]	Iohansen	Cointegration	Test for the	agoregate	employment model	
1 1 P	penaix	17 7 9	onunsen	Connegiation	T OST TOT THE	uggioguio	employment model	

Note. Maximum Rank denote the number of cointegrating vectors and K represents the number of lags in the unrestricted VAR Model

Appendix 4B: Johansen Cointegration Test for the agricultural sector employment model

11	Trace Sta	tistics K=1	Maximum Eigen Values K=1		
Maximum Rank	λ (trace)	5 % critical values	λ (Max)	5% critical values	
0	-	192.89	-	57.12	
1	-	156	-	51.42	
2	-	124.24	844.9464	45.28	
3	-	94.15	791.9870	39.37	
4	-	68.52	0	33.46	
5	-	47.21	0	27.07	
6	-	29.68	0	20.97	
7	-	15.41	0	14.07	
8	-	3.76	0	3.76	
9	-	-	-	-	

Appendix 4B. Johansen Cointegration Test for the agricultural sector employment model

Note. Maximum Rank denote the number of cointegrating vectors and K represents the number of lags in the unrestricted VAR Model